

The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries

Dr Rushern Ruvashin Chetty

(214516475)

Submitted in fulfilment of the academic requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science in the Department of Internal Medicine School of Clinical Medicine College of Health Sciences University of KwaZulu-Natal Durban 2021 As the candidate's supervisor, I have approved this thesis for submission.



Signed: Name: Prof Somasundram Pillay Date: 27 September 2021

DEDICATION

I want to thank the Lord for giving me the courage and wisdom to undertake and complete this degree.

Thank you to my family and friends for all their support. My dad (U.P. Chetty), mum (S. Chetty), sister (Merishni) and fiancé (Kylie) – for your love, care and continuous support.

DECLARATION

I, Dr Rushern Ruvashin Chetty, declare that:

(i) The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated, is my original work.

(ii) This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.

(iii) This thesis does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.

(iv) Where I have reproduced research of which I am an author, co-author or editor, I have referenced this article

(v) This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and is in the References section.

Signed:

Date: 24 September 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- A big thank you to my supervisor, Professor Somasundram Pillay, for your excellent mentorship towards my research and future development. This project would not have been possible without your support and guidance.
- Mr Deepak Singh statistician for your expertise.
- Edendale Hospital and their staff for allowing the study to be conducted at their Diabetes Clinic.

ABBREVIATIONS

ART	Anti-retroviral treatment						
BREC	Biomedial Research and Ethics Committee						
DM	Diabetes Mellitus						
EDH	Edendale Hospital						
GFR	Glomerular Filtration Rate						
HbA1c	Glycated Haemoglobin						
HIC	High-income country						
HIV	Human immuno-deficiency virus						
JEMDSA	Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes South Africa						
LMIC	Low-and-middle-income countries						
NCD	Non-communicable diseases						
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test						
PLWD	Patients living with diabetes						
PLWT1DM	Patients living with type 1 diabetes mellitus						
PLWT2DM	Patients living with type 2 diabetes mellitus						
PLWDH	Patients living with diabetes and HIV						
PRISMA	Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses						
SA	South Africa						
SEMDSA	Society of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes South Africa						
TB	Tuberculosis						
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus						
USA	United States of America						
WHO	World Health Organisation						

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by raised blood glucose levels. In 2019, there were an estimated 463 million adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD), with this figure expected to reach around the 700 million mark by 2045. Patients living in low-income and middle-income countries comprise approximately 79% of global adult PLWD figures, with approximately 20% of these PLWD being older than 65 years. This illustrates that the burden of DM rests on the younger working-age population in low-to-middle-income (LMIC) countries. These patients living with type 1 and type 2 diabetes have reduced life expectancies of approximately 20 and 10 years, respectively. Unfortunately, this compounds the problem of further decreasing the life expectancy of the population of LMIC countries which are already being affected by communicable diseases like HIV infection.

South Africa has the highest prevalence of human immuno-deficiency virus (HIV) in the world at 13% with many PLWD also being HIV-infected. With the effective roll-out of anti-retroviral treatment (ART), patients are also able to live longer and can develop diabetes mellitus as a result of longevity, ART and the HIV-infection itself. With the prevalence of both these conditions and the numbers of DM expected to rise, determining relationships in PLWD in an HIV-endemic area would offer better knowledge and allow for better strategies to be implemented to effectively manage a significant proportion of patients in our setting.

A scoping review was conducted globally to identify associations between 'age' and 'glycaemic control' in HIV-infected PLWD. The review concluded that "varying data exists on the associations between glycaemic control and age in PLWD in the context of HIV infection (PLWDH). Further studies are recommended to determine associations in this regard, especially in LMIC where HIV and DM have a higher prevalence."

The lack of conclusive associations identified from the scoping review suggested that another study was warranted in an HIV-endemic region. A retrospective study was conducted among 957 PLWD of whom 146 patients were HIV-infected from the Edendale Hospital Diabetes Clinic, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. Statistical analysis was performed with a p value<0.05 being considered statistically significant. Our study showed that younger PLWD had poorer glycaemic control and were likely to develop diabetes-related complications later in life. Of note, older age was associated with improved mean glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels after adjusting for glomerular filtration rate (GFR) [r=-0.141, p<0.001; (before adjustment: r=-0.108; p=0.001)]. In addition to this, PLWD with an HIV-infection who had a mean HbA1c>7% were significantly younger than those with HbA1c \leq 7% (47.38 years vs. 52.77 years, p=0.013).

From this study, we evaluated associations between age and glycaemic control in PLWD has served to highlight that "more emphasis, in terms of diabetes education and management, needs to be placed in the younger age category of both PLWD and PLWDH". This study, as well as future prospective studies, will assist with providing patients, healthcare workers and government with improved knowledge, thereby managing patients more effectively at any given age. Some of our recommendations from this study include: screening all patients for DM and implementing strategies to optimise glycaemic control and prevent complications; healthy diet to be implemented by patients of all ages; exercise as well as optimal pharmacological management and self-monitoring of glucose levels.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	iii
DECLARATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
ABBREVIATIONS	vi
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	10
CHAPTER 2: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AGE AND GLYCAEMIC CONTROL IN PATIENTS LIVING WITH DIABETES MELLITUS IN THE CONTEXT OF HIV INFECTION SCOPING REVIEW	N: A 13
CHAPTER 3: AGE AND DIABETES CONTROL IN AN HIV-ENDEMIC COUNTRY: IS THAN ASSOCIATION? (RESEARCH ARTICLE)	ERE 5
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION	28
APPENDIX 1: THE STUDY PROTOCOL	31
1. BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW	33
2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	42
3. METHODS	45
4. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	47
5. METHODOLOGICAL CHALLENGES AND STUDY LIMITATIONS	48
6. FEASIBILITY	49
7. STUDY SIGNIFICANCE	50
8. APPENDICES	51
APPENDIX 2: BIOMEDICAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE (BREC) APPRO LETTER	VAL 52
APPENDIX 3: KWA-ZULU NATAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH APPROVAL LETTER	53
APPENDIX 4: EDENDALE HOSPITAL (GATEKEEPER) APPROVAL LETTER	54

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by raised blood glucose levels¹. In 2019, there were an estimated 463 million adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD)², with this figure expected to reach around the 700 million mark by 2045².

Patients living in low-income and middle-income countries comprise approximately 79% of global adult PLWD figures, with approximately 20% of these PLWD being older than 65 years². This contrasts with high-income countries which have greater than 50% of their PLWD older than 65 years³. This illustrates that the burden of DM rests on the younger working-age population in LMIC countries. These patients living with type 1 and type 2 diabetes have reduced life expectancies of approximately 20 and 10 years, respectively⁴. Unfortuately, this compounds the problem of further decreasing the life expectancy of the population of LMIC countries which are already being affected by communicable diseases like HIV infection and tuberculosis (TB). South Africa has the highest prevalence of HIV in the world at 13%⁵, while TB was identified as the main cause of mortality in South Africa in 2019 with an estimated 58 000 deaths⁶.

Literature has shown us that younger age is associated with poorer glycaemic control^{7,8}. Considering this as well as younger patients experience a longer duration of DM, it would explain why there are increased complications in older patients⁹. In South Africa, it has already been demonstrated that older PLWD have a poorer quality of life and greater disability¹⁰. In addition to this, those with young-onset type 2 DM (T2DM) appear to have a more aggressive disease phenotype, leading to a poorer quality of life and unfavourable long-term outcomes⁹. This highlights the possibility of a future public health catastrophe⁹. Efforts should therefore be made to prevent this potential problem.

South Africa's mortality in older patients is transitioning from a country which mainly suffers from communicable disease (e.g. HIV and TB) to one of non-communicable diseases such as strokes and heart disease¹¹. This underscores the importance of DM since strokes and heart disease are known complications of DM⁸. South Africa has a younger population with only 9.10% of the population being 60 years and older¹¹. The working age in South Africa is between 15-64 years.¹² In addition, among those South Africans who are between 15-49 years old, approximately 18.70% have HIV-infection⁵ while the prevalence of TB is estimated at 615 per 100 000 population⁶. Burgess et al. found that there was a greater than three-times higher mortality at 24-month follow up in PLWD who were HIV-infected when compared to those who were HIV-uninfected¹³. Furthermore, DM has been shown to increase the risk of developing TB by 300%¹⁴. Estimates from 2020 place the average South Africans' life expectancy at 62.50 years and 68.50 years for males and females, respectively¹¹. This suggests that

the South African male life expectancy is lower than the retirement age of the population while females are expected to demise shortly after retirement age. The burden of this collision of non-communicable and communicable diseases in SA and its associated increase in earlier mortality has a significant impact on the working class, thereby reducing economic activity in the country.

In this study we aimed to perform a scoping review of what is currently known on 'The relationship between age and diabetes control in patients with diabetes mellitus in low-to-middle income countries' as well as determine if there are significant associations in patients living with diabetes (PLWD) between age and clinical and biochemical variables. This was done on PLWD who visited a regional hospital diabetes clinic in Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. The results of this study can help the government to design and implement strategies to improve current diabetes care in patients targeting different age groups.

REFERENCES FOR INTRODUCTION

- World Health Organisation. Diabetes. https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes# accessed (25 January 2021).
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. About Diabetes. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-isdiabetes/facts-figures.html# (accessed 25 January 2021)
- Asiimwe D, Mauti GO, Kiconco R. Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated with Type 2 Diabetes in Elderly Patients Aged 45-80 Years at Kanungu District. Journal of Diabetes Research. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5152146
- 4. Diabetes.co.uk. Diabetes Life Expectancy. https://www.diabetes.co.uk/diabetes-life-expectancy.html (accessed 26 January 2021)
- 5. Statistics South Africa 2020 Mid-year population estimates http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13453 (accessed 26 January 2021)
- TBFacts.org. TB Statistics South Africa National, incidence, provincial. https://tbfacts.org/tbstatistics-south-africa/ (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Nanayakkara N, Ranasinha S, Gadowski AM et al. Age-related differences in glycaemic control, cardiovascular disease risk factors and treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study from the Australian National Diabetes Audit. British Medical Journal Open 2018;8:e020677. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020677
- Shamshirgaran, S.M., Mamaghanian, A., Aliasgarzadeh, A. et al. Age differences in diabetes-related complications and glycaemic control. BioMed Central Endocrine Disorders. 2017;17 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-017-0175-5
- 9. Lascar N, Brown J, Pattison H, Barnett A, Bailey CJ, Bellary S. Type 2 diabetes in adolescents and young adults. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2018;6:69-80.
- Werfalli M, Kassanjee R, Kalula S, Kowal P, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Levitt NS. Diabetes in South African older adults: prevalence and impact on quality of life and functional disability - as assessed using SAGE Wave 1 data. Global Health Action. 2018;11(1):1449924. doi: 10.1080/ 16549716.2018.1449924.
- Statssa. Protecting South Africa's elderly. http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13445 (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Statssa. Quarterly Labour Force Survey Quarter 3: 2020. http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02113rdQuarter2020.pdf (accessed 31 January 2021)
- 13. Burgess PI, Harding SP, Kayange PC et al. High mortality in subjects with both diabetes and HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS 2018 Sept;32(14):2083-2084 PMCID: PMC6125738
- 14. Restrepo BI. Diabetes and tuberculosis. Microbiology Spectrum. 2016;4(6). PMID: 28084206

CHAPTER 2: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AGE AND GLYCAEMIC CONTROL IN PATIENTS LIVING WITH DIABETES MELLITUS IN THE CONTEXT OF HIV INFECTION: A SCOPING REVIEW

This chapter focuses on a scoping review of the literature available on studies which include PLWD who are also HIV-infected to address relationships between 'age' and 'glycaemic control'.

The study revealed that there were varying associations between 'age' and 'glycaemic control' in PLWDH.

(Some formatting changes and minor additions have been inserted from the original article published in JEMDSA)



The relationship between age and glycaemic control in patients living with diabetes mellitus in the context of HIV infection: a scoping review

RR Chetty & S Pillay

To cite this article: RR Chetty & S Pillay (2021): The relationship between age and glycaemic control in patients living with diabetes mellitus in the context of HIV infection: a scoping review, Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa, DOI: 10.1080/16089677.2021.1945767

10.1080/16089677.2021.1945767

To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/16089677.2021.1945767

© 2021 The Author(s). Co-published by NISC Pty (Ltd) and Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group



9

Published online: 21 Jul 2021.

Submit your article to this journal

Article views: 45

View related artic **f**s

則 View Crossmark d 🗗

Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa 2021: 1–7 https://doi org/10 1080/16089677 2021 1945767

Open Access article distributed under the terms of the

Creative Commons License [CC BY-NC 4 0] http://creativecommons org/licenses/by-nc/4 0

The relationship between age and glycaemic control in patients living with diabetes mellitus in the context of HIV infection: a scoping review

1 0

RR Chetty^a* (2) and S Pillay^{b,c}* (2)

a Addington Hospital, Durban, South Africa b Department of Internal

Medicine, King Edward VIII Hospital, Durban, South Africa

NRM SCM University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN), Durban, South Africa

*Correspondence: drspillay@iafrica.com; rushern.r.chetty@gmail.com

Background: Patients living in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) comprise approximately 79% of the global number of adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD). In addition, South Africa (SA), a LMIC, has the highest prevalence of HIV infection globally (13%). The literature suggests that poor glycaemic control is found in the younger PLWD while older PLWD have a poorer quality of life with greater disability. With the effective roll-out of anti-retroviral treatment (ART), patients are living longer and can develop diabetes mellitus as a result of longevity, ART and the HIV infection itself. Assessing the relationship between age in PLWD and HIV would help in developing effective strategies that can be implemented to optimise healthcare for this cohort of patients.

Objectives: A study was undertaken to summarise publications on age and glycaemic control in PLWD within the context of an HIV infection.

Methods: A scoping review was performed using online medical journal search engines with specific search terms according to the PRISMA guidelines. The Abstracts of articles were read and articles that matched the search criteria were downloaded and read in full. If they matched the chosen topic, they were summarised for analysis.

Results: There were 260 results found across 3 medical search engines (55 from Cochrane; 59 from PubMed; 101 from Scopus). A Google search was conducted for completeness (45 results). Seventeen journal articles were identified for the scoping review with 45 095 patients included in these studies from 7 countries. Associations between age and glycaemia differed greatly, being dispersed among the 'older age has worse glycaemia category', 'non-significant category' and 'older age has improved glycaemia category'.

Conclusion: Varying data exist on the associations between glycaemic control and age in PLWD in the context of HIV infection. Further studies are recommended to determine associations in this regard, especially in LMIC where HIV and DM have a higher prevalence.

Keywords: age, diabetes mellitus, glycaemic control, HIV, LMIC

JEMDSA ISSN 1608-9677 EISSN 2220-1009

© 2021 The Author(s)

ARTICLE

Check for updates

Background

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by raised blood glucose levels.¹ In 2019, there were an estimated 463 million adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD), with this figure expected to reach around the 700 million mark by 2045.²

Patients living in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) comprise approximately 79% of the global adult PLWD figures, with approximately 20% of these PLWD being older than 65 years.² This contrasts with high income countries (HIC), where the majority of such patients are older than 64 years,³ illustrating that the burden of DM rests on the shoulders of the younger working age population in these LMIC. These patients living with type 1 and type 2 diabetes already have reduced life expectancies of approximately 20 and 10 years respectively⁴ and DM occurring at a younger age only serves to compound the problem of decreasing the life expectancy of the population in these LMIC, which are already being burdened by communicable diseases such as HIV infection and tuberculosis (TB). South Africa (SA) is classified as a LMIC and also has the highest prevalence of HIV infection in the world at 13%.⁵ In addition, TB has been reported as the main cause of mortality in SA in 2019, with an estimated 58 000 annual TB-attributable deaths.⁶

Literature from both HIC and LMIC countries show us that poor glycaemic control is found in the younger PLWD.^{7,8} Taking this finding into consideration and that younger patients are generally destined to have longer disease exposure, probably accounts for the increased risks of chronic complications found in older PLWD.⁹ In SA, it has already been demonstrated that older PLWD have a poorer quality of life and greater disability.¹⁰ In addition, those with young-onset type 2 DM (T2DM) appear to have a more aggressive disease phenotype, leading to a poorer quality of life and unfavourable long-term outcomes.⁹ This serves to highlight the burden on the health system of DM in older patients.⁹ Efforts should therefore be made to identify areas in diabetes control that can be targeted in the various age groups in order to prevent this potential problem.

The landscape of mortality in older patients in SA is changing from one of communicable diseases (e.g. HIV and TB) to that of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as strokes and heart disease.¹¹ This underscores the importance of DM, as strokes and heart disease are well recognised macrovascular complications of DM.⁸ Epidemiologically, SA has a younger population with only 9.1% of the population being 60 years and older.¹¹ The working age in SA is generally defined as between 15 and 64 years.¹² South Africans who are 15–49 years old are also faced with an additional infectious diseases burden, especially that of HIV infection (with a prevalence of 18.7%⁵) and TB, which is estimated at 615 per 100 000 population.⁶ Burgess et al. found that there was a greater than three times higher mortality at 24-month follow-up in PLWD who were HIV-infected when compared with those who were HIV-uninfected.¹³ Moreover, people with an HIV infection are more likely to develop T2DM than HIV-uninfected patients.¹⁴ Furthermore, DM has been shown to increase the risk of developing TB by

300%.¹⁵ Estimates from 2020 place the average South African life expectancy at 62.5 and 68.5 years for males and females respectively.¹¹ This suggests that South African male life expectancy is lower than the retirement age of the population while females are expected to die shortly after retirement age. The burden of this collision of non-communicable and communicable diseases in SA and its associated increase in earlier mortality has a significant impact on the working class, thereby reducing economic activity in this country.

Aim

This scoping review aimed to summarise publications relating to age and glycaemic control in PLWD in HIV-infected patients (PLWDH) to identify a potential research gap on the topic by assessing associations between age and glycaemic control.

Methods

Search terms and data sources

For this scoping review, data were obtained using trusted online medical journal search engines. The Cochrane Library, PubMed and Scopus were utilised for this task. The following wording chosen was in the Boolean search format across the online search engine platforms in order to identify as many articles as possible on the topic: ('diabetes' OR 'diabetes mellitus' OR 'insulin dependent diabetes or 'non-insulin dependent diabetes' OR 'non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus' OR 'IDDM' OR 'insulin dependent diabetes' OR 'non-insulin dependent diabetes' OR 'NIDDM' OR 'type 2 diabetes mellitus' OR 'type 2 diabetes' OR 'type 1 diabetes' OR 'type 1 diabetes' OR 'Age' OR 'elderly' OR 'young') AND ('increased age' OR 'decreased age' OR 'teenagers' OR 'teens' OR 'mature' OR 'old' OR 'pensioners' OR 'older' OR 'younger') AND ('HbA1c' OR 'glycaemic control' OR 'glycemia') AND ('HIV' OR 'AIDS' OR 'HIV-infection' OR 'HIV infection' OR 'HIV positive' OR 'HIV-positive' OR 'human immunodeficiency syndrome').

A Google search was also done to find additional articles. Broader search terms were included: 'diabetes' and 'HIV' and 'age'. From the results on Google, articles were identified by 'title' and if this included associations on 'HIV' and 'diabetes', the article was read in full to look for associations between glycaemic control and age in the study. Articles that had already been found on the other search engines were not read in the Google search. There were 110 articles evaluated by title while only 45 other articles were read in full for possible use in the study.

Study designs accepted were retrospective and prospective cohort studies where an identifiable DM group with an HIV infection was present. Any study, regardless of when or where it was conducted or published, was accepted provided that there was a relationship among the four variables (i.e. HIVinfected, DM, an association between 'age' and 'glycaemic control'). Only studies in English were read as the authors were only proficient in English.



Figure 1: Flow diagram showing the eliminating process of articles to obtain final articles included in this scoping review

Data synthesis

As of April 15, 2021, there were 215 search results across three different search engines (55 from Cochrane Library; 59 from PubMed, and 101 from Scopus). An additional 45 articles were evaluated through the Google search. The articles' Abstract was read and those that met the criteria for our scoping review were downloaded and kept aside for full review of the entire article. Identical articles that were duplicated on the different search engines were omitted. We aimed to find studies from PLWDH cohorts (or alternatively DM cohorts or HIV cohorts where there were groups/subgroups that included PLWDH). We then determined whether there were clear relationships between 'age' and 'glycaemia' in such groups. Figure 1 is a flow diagram of the selection process followed according to the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement.¹⁶

The selection of articles was done manually and no software program was utilised due to the limited number of results found. If articles were identified for inclusion in the scoping review, they were downloaded and kept in a folder, which was analysed later to be added to Table 1. This was done by author RRC and verified by co-author SP to ensure validity and standardisation of included studies.

There were a total of 17 articles that met our criteria for this study and these are summarised in Table 1 in chronological order.

Data were reported on year of publication, country, region, gender, type of study, patient selection and duration of both HIV and DM. These details highlighted that the earliest study found was in 2010 and since that time more than half of the publications have been within the last five years. The country and region were included to evaluate whether demographics or social factors had an impact on age and glycaemic control. As mentioned, the burden of disease of DM and HIV is in LMIC, hence we hoped to identify whether LMIC are adequately evaluating these associations, which is more relevant to them. The number of PLWDH showed the proportion of patients who suffered from both co-morbidities compared with the number of participants in the study and was included to determine the total number of patients that we used in this study. The type of study showed prospective vs. retrospective studies to allow causal relationships vs. associations to be drawn, respectively. The cohort selection was to determine whether patients were primarily from HIV clinics (who were also PLWD) or whether from a DM clinic who were also HIVinfected. The duration of HIV and DM was included to assess whether the duration of either co-morbidity had an effect on age.

19

Results

Demographics of the different studies

All of the studies had an association between age and glycaemic control in PLWDH. From the 17 studies that met our inclusion criteria, seven different countries were identified. There were six articles from the USA, five from South Africa, two from Malawi and one each from France, the Netherlands, Brazil and Iran. The studies ranged from 2010 to March 2021.

Nine of the studies were from LMIC while eight were from HIC countries. Locally in South Africa, there were five studies conducted (three in Pietermaritzburg [KwaZulu-Natal province]; one in East London [Eastern Cape province] and one in Soweto [Gauteng province]).

Glesby et al.¹⁷ was the only study to be performed among a complete female cohort while Medapalli et al.²⁰ assessed US veterans and consisted almost entirely of males. All other studies conducted were done on cohorts of both sexes.

Number of patients identified and types of studies

There were 45 095 patients identified across the 17 included studies. In total, 5 060 patients were identified as having both HIV infection and being diagnosed with DM. Of these studies, there were five prospective and eight retrospective studies; the studies mentioned only that they were cross-sectional while one study did not mention the study design.

In terms of samples utilised, six of the studies identified included patients from HIV clinics and six studies identified patients from DM clinics. Two studies had cohorts of PLWDH. The other three studies comprised cohorts with TB and HIVinfected patients, newly diagnosed HIV-infected patients and women with or at high risk of contracting HIV infection.

Relationships between glycaemia, age and HIV infection

The results of the included studies varied as to the relationship between age and glycaemia. Some studies suggested that age and glycaemia have an inverse relationship, i.e. lower glycaemia occurs as age increases.^{20,24,25,33} However, other studies suggested that glycaemia worsens with age.^{19,23,26–29} To complicate this, there are also data to support there being no statistically significant differences that occur between age and glycaemia.^{17,18,21,22,30–32}

In HIC countries, we found that in the 'older has worse glycaemia category' vs. 'older has improved glycaemia category' vs. 'non-significant category', there were two, two and four studies, respectively.

In LMIC, there were three studies in each of the categories. In Malawi, both of the studies suggested that age had no significance in glycaemia.^{18,22} This contrasted with SA, where three studies suggested that there is an inverse relationship between age and glycaemia;^{25,28,33} one study showed no significant relationship between age and glycaemia³¹ while the last study showed that older patients had poorer glycaemia.²⁷ Overseas, both studies done in Brazil²⁶ and Iran²⁹ suggested that older age was associated with poorer glycaemia (see Table 2).

Table 1: Articles which met criteria of scoping review

No.	Author	Year of	Cou	Regio	Numb	No. of	Gender	Type of	Patient	Duratio	Duration	Associations found relevant to
		publicat	ntry	n	er of	PLW		study	selection	n of	of DM	this scoping review
		ion			partici	DH				HIV		
					pants							
1	Glesby et al. [17]	2010	USA	6 urban sites	424	315	Females	Prospect ive	Women with or at high risk of HIV infection	X	X	HbA1c was lower in PLWHD compared to HIV-uninfected patients while there was no statistically significant differences in age.
2	Cohen et al. [18]	2010	Mala wi	Blanty re	620	65	Both	Prospect ive	Diabetes Clinic	X	7.0	No statistical differences were seen between age and HbA1c values between PLWD and PLWDH; neuropathy was significantly associated with age or poor glycaemic control (fasting blood glucose but not HbA1c)
3	Capeau et al. [19]	2011	Fran ce	47 French clinics	1046	111	Both	Prospect ive	HIV-infected Cohort	3.6 (0.2– 8.7)	X	Age is positively associated with PLWD compared to normoglycaemic patients; indinavir caused more hyperglycaemic episodes
4	Medapal li et al. [20]	2012	USA	New York	31072	1796	97% Male	X	HIV-infected	X	X	PLWDH had lower HbA1c at baseline compared to those without both co-morbidities; mean age of PLWDH were older than overall group

5	Kim et	2014	USA	New	65	65	Both	Retrosp	PLWDH from	Х	X	There were no statistically
	al. [21]			York				ective	clinic			significant differences in age
												when estimating glycaemia
6	Burgess	2014	Mala	Blanty	357	48	Both	prospect	DM Clinic	Х	OR: 1.13	High HbA1c and an HIV-
	et al.		wi	re				ive				infection are risk factors for
	[22]											sight-threatening diabetic
												retinopathy while age is not
												significantly related
7	Roerink	2015	Nede	Nijme	518	28	Both	Retrosp	HIV clinic	12±7	9±5	PLWDH were older and had
	et al.		rland	gen				ective				higher glucose and HbA1c
	[23]		S									levels
8	Zuniga	2016	USA	Urban	186	186	Both	Retrosp	HIV Clinic	Х	X	Older age was significantly
	et al.							ective				related to optimal HIV and DM
-	[24]		~ .									control
9	Pillay et	2016	SA	Pieter	653	149	Both	Retrosp	DM Clinic	X	4.29±	Younger patients who were
	al. [25]			marıtz				ective			4.65	HIV-infected had higher mean
				burg								HbA1c levels than older
10	М. ¹	2017	D .	D' D	472	10	D (1			V	X	patients.
10	Moreira	2017	Brazi	R10 De	4/3	10	Both	Retrosp	HIV and IB co-	X	X	PLWD were older and had a
			1	Janero				ecuve	infection			nigher median glucose
11	[20] Khoro	2019	C A	Correct	220	106	Doth	Drogradt	DM alimia	5 25	11.0	UNV infected nationts were
11	KII0Za	2018	SA	Sower	520	100	Dom	Prospect	Divi chinic	3.33 ± 4.10	$11.9 \pm$	vounger and had lower HbA1e
	[27]			0				IVE		(Duratio	5.04	lovels
	[27]									(Duratio		ievels.
12	Somban	2019	SA	Fast	335	21	Both	Cross	Newly	X	X	Age <46 is significantly
12	mu et al	2017	571	Londo	555	21	Dotti	sectiona	diagnosed-HIV	11	21	associated with fewer HbA1c
	[28]			n				1	patients			levels $\geq 6.5\%$
13	Rasooli	2019	Iran	Tehran	480	28	Both	cross-	HIV- infected	59.0 ±	х	Age greater than 40 was
_	nejad et					-		sectiona	cohort	35.9		significantly associated with
	al. [29]							1 study.		months		hyperglycaemia and DM
								retrospe				
								ctive				

14	Zuniga et al. [30]	2020	USA	Center for AIDS Resear ch Netwo rk of Integra ted Clinic Syste ms	798	798	Both	Retrosp ective cross- sectiona 1	PLWH and T2DM	X	X	No statistically significant differences in HbA1c between younger and older patients.
15	Pillay et al. [31]	2020	SA	Pieter maritz burg	915	165	Both	Cross- sectiona l	DM Clinic	6.5 years (IQR: 3- 10) when on ART	Median 4 years; IQR:1-8	PLWDH were significantly younger than PLWD, there was no statistically significant difference in glycaemia between PLWD and PLWDH
16	Wallace et al. [32]	2020	USA	Washi ngton	5876	1023	Both	Observa tional longitud inal, cross- sectiona l	HIV Cohort	Mean: 17.9 years	X	In PLWDH, age played no significance between well- controlled and non-controlled DM.
17	Chetty et al. [33]	2021	SA	Pieter maritz burg	957	146	Both	Retrosp ective	DM Clinic	X	X	Age categories and HbA1c values have an inverse relationship; a positive family history of diabetes has higher mean HbA1c levels in HIV- infected patients on a Fixed Dose Combination of ART

X=No information available on this association

	"older age has worse	"non-significant	"older age has improved		
	glycaemia category"	category"	glycaemia category"		
HIC	USA x 2 studies	USA x 4 studies	Netherlands x 1 study		
			France x 1 study		
LMIC	SA x 3 studies	SA x 1 study	SA x 1 study		
		Malawi x 2 studies			
			Iran x 1 study		

Table 2: Summary of results of study by income type of country

HIC = high-income countries; LMIC = low- and middle-income countries.

Discussion

Data vary on the associations between age and glycaemic control in PLWD within the context of HIV. An article published in 2018 by Fazekas-Lavu et al.³⁴ highlighted the limited data available on the associations between HIV and DM. Although literature is available, knowledge gaps are still widespread on this topic as there is no consensus on this association due to a paucity of studies. While performing this scoping review, multiple articles focused on the prevalence of DM or dysglycaemia within cohorts of HIV-infected patients rather than associations that occur in cohorts of patients with both these comorbidities. We postulate that this is due to the lower prevalence of HIVinfected patients outside LMIC, thereby making it difficult to obtain a cohort of PLWD with an HIV infection in a sample size large enough to study. This is evident from our scoping review where only two studies had cohorts of PLWDH.

Kebbi et al. described that the rising number of younger patients with T2DM in the general population is associated with poorer glycaemic control.³⁵ Quah et al. concurred and suggested that targeted educational and behaviour modification programmes would be required to effectively manage younger PLWD.³⁶ In the context of an HIV infection, Chetty et al. found a similar association – younger patients had a higher mean HbA1c than older patients.³³ Al Lawati et al. highlighted that the poorer glycaemia seen in younger adults poses a formidable challenge to diabetes care teams.³⁷

On the other end of the spectrum, Roerink et al. found that PLWDH were older and had higher HbA1c levels.²³ This could be attributed to older patients being at higher risk for the development of type 2 diabetes due to the combined effects of increasing insulin resistance and impaired pancreatic islet function.¹⁷ When considering age and an HIV-infection, Kalra et al. highlighted that patients may develop DM due to normal ageing, the metabolic changes related to the HIV infection or due to HIV treatment.³⁹ This suggests that the occurrence of DM can be multifactorial in older patients. When considering the longer lifespan that PLWH have due to ART and the cardiovascular risks related to DM, effective strategies need to be implemented so that optimal care can be given to this cohort of PLWDH.

Glesby et al. conducted a study on a female cohort and suggested that the HIV infection was more significant than age when comparing glycaemic control. In this study, it was found that HIV-infected patients had lower mean HbA1c levels.¹⁷ According to Monroe et al., HbA1c has been found to underestimate glycaemia in HIV-infected patients (both males and females).⁴⁰ This highlights the varying factors and challenges that can affect patients' glycaemia in the context of HIV.

Our study summarised associations but could not identify demographics or resources (seen through LMIC vs. HIC [high-income countries]) as a variable that could be associated with glycaemic control and age. For example, the countries that made up the 'older age has improved glycaemia category' consisted of the USA (two cases) and SA (three cases). This suggested that regardless of the region being developed or underdeveloped, associations may exist. This was evident in our South African setting where three studies were conducted in the same city (Pietermaritzburg) but the results of these studies did not correlate. It is evident from our findings that there are likely associations between age and glycaemic control that are not well understood at present. We postulate that this is attributed to the differing lifestyle habits (diet/exercise/medication adherence) of patients in the different age groups.

Conclusion

Varying data exist on the associations between glycaemic control and age in PLWD in the context of HIV. Further studies are recommended to determine associations in this regard, especially in LMIC where HIV and DM are highly prevalent.

Disclosure statement - No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

ORCID

RR Chetty http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5822-0872

S Pillay http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5604-645X

References

- World Health Organisation. Diabetes. <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes#</u> accessed (25 January 2021).
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. About Diabetes. <u>https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes/facts-figures.html#</u> (accessed 25 January 2021)
- Buowari OY. Diabetes Mellitus in Developing Countries and Case Series. Diabetes Mellitus Insights and Perspectives. 2013 DOI:10.5772/50658
- 4. Diabetes.co.uk. Diabetes Life Expectancy. https://www.diabetes.co.uk/diabetes-lifeexpectancy.html (accessed 26 January 2021)
- 5. Statistics South Africa 2020 Mid-year population estimates http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13453 (accessed 26 January 2021)
- TBFacts.org. TB Statistics South Africa National, incidence, provincial. <u>https://tbfacts.org/tb-statistics-south-africa/</u> (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Nanayakkara N, Ranasinha S, Gadowski AM et al. Age-related differences in glycaemic control, cardiovascular disease risk factors and treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study from the Australian National Diabetes Audit. British Medical Journal Open 2018;8:e020677. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020677
- Shamshirgaran SM, Mamaghanian A, Aliasgarzadeh A. et al. Age differences in diabetesrelated complications and glycaemic control. BioMed Central Endocrine Disorders. 2017;17 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-017-0175-5
- Lascar N, Brown J, Pattison H, Barnett A, Bailey CJ, Bellary S. Type 2 diabetes in adolescents and young adults. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2018;6:69-80.
- Werfalli M, Kassanjee R, Kalula S, Kowal P, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Levitt NS. Diabetes in South African older adults: prevalence and impact on quality of life and functional disability as assessed using SAGE Wave 1 data. Global Health Action. 2018;11(1):1449924. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2018.1449924.
- Statssa. Protecting South Africa's elderly. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13445</u> (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Statssa. Quarterly Labour Force Survey Quarter 3: 2020. <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02113rdQuarter2020.pdf</u> (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Burgess PI, Harding SP, Kayange PC et al. High mortality in subjects with both diabetes and HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS 2018 Sept;32(14):2083-2084 PMCID: PMC6125738
- 14. HIV info.NIH.gov. HIV and Diabetes. <u>https://hivinfo.nih.gov/understanding-hiv/fact-sheets/hiv-and-</u>

<u>diabetes#:~:text=People%20with%20HIV%20are%20more,and%20being%20overweight%20</u> <u>or%20obese</u>. (accessed 14 February 2021)

- 15. Restrepo BI. Diabetes and tuberculosis. Microbiology Spectrum. 2016;4(6). PMID: 28084206
- 16. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Atlman D. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339:b2535
- Glesby MJ, Hoover DR, Shi Q et al. Glycated Hemoglobin in Diabetic Women with and Without HIV Infection: Data from the Women's Interagency HIV Study. Antivir Ther. 2010; 15(4): 571–577. doi:10.3851/IMP1557.
- Cohen DB, Allain TJ, Glover S. A Survey of the Management, Control, and Complications of Diabetes Mellitus in Patients Attending a Diabetes Clinic in Blantyre, Malawi. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg., 83(3), 2010, pp. 575–581
- 19. Capeau J, Bouteloup V, Katlama C et al. Ten-year diabetes incidence in 1046 HIV-infected patients started on a combination antiretroviral treatment. AIDS 2012, 26:303–314
- 20. Medapalli RK, Parikh CR, Gordon K. Comorbid Diabetes and the Risk of Progressive Chronic Kidney Disease in HIV-Infected Adults: Data From the Veterans Aging Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2012;60:393–399
- 21. Kim SY, Friedmann P, Seth A, Fleckman AM. Monitoring HIV-infected Patients with Diabetes: Hemoglobin A1c, Fructosamine, or Glucose?
- 22. Burgess PI, Allain TJ, Garcia-Finana M et al. High prevalence in Malawi of sight-threatening retinopathy and visual impairment caused by diabetes: identification of population-specific targets for intervention. Diabet. Med. 31, 1643–1650 (2014)
- 23. Roerink ME, Meijering R, Bosch M, Galan BE, Crevel R. Diabetes in patients with HIV: patient characteristics, management and screening. The Netherlands Journal of Medicine. 2015;73:7
- 24. Zuniga J, Nguyen ML, Holstad M. Predictors of dual control of HIV and diabetes, AIDS Care, 28:9, 1124-1127, DOI: 10.1080/09540121.2016.1139667
- 25. Pillay S, Aldous C, Mahomed F. A deadly combination HIV and diabetes mellitus: Where are we now? SAMJ. 2016;106:4: 378-383
- 26. Moreira J, Castro R, Lamas C et al. Hyperglycemia during tuberculosis treatment increases morbidity and mortality in a contemporary cohort of HIV-infected patients in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. International Journal of Infectious Diseases 69 (2018) 11–19
- 27. Khoza SP, Crowther NJ, Bhana S (2018) The effect of HIV infection on glycaemia and renal function in type 2 diabetic patients. PLoS ONE 13(6): e0199946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199946
- Sogbanmu OO, Obi LO, Goon DT et al. Diagnosing Diabetes Mellitus With Glycated Haemoglobin in Newly Diagnosed HIV-positive Patients in Buffalo City Municipality, South

Africa: A Cross sectional Study. Open Public Health Journal. DOI: 10.2174/1874944501912010263, 2019, 12, 263-268

- 29. Rasoolinejad M, Najafi E, Hadadi A et al. Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes Mellitus Among HIV Positive Patients in Tehran, Iran. Infectious Disorders - Drug Targets, 2019, 19, 297-302
- 30. Zuniga JA, Garcia AA, Lee J, Park J. Retention in care in aging adults with a dual diagnosis of HIV infection and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a longitudinal retrospective cross-sectional study AIDS Res Ther (2020) 17:29 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-020-00286-
- Pillay S, Pillay D, Singh D, Pillay R. Human immunodeficiency virus, diabetes mellitus and thyroid abnormalities: Should we be screening? S Afr J HIV Med. 2020;21(1), a1116. https:// doi.org/10.4102/sajhivmed. v21i1.1116
- Wallace DE, Horberg MA, Benator DA et al. Diabetes mellitus control in a large cohort of people with HIV in care-Washington, D.C., AIDS Care;2020, DOI:10.1080/09540121.2020.1808160
- 33. Chetty RR, Pillay S. Glycaemic control and family history of diabetes mellitus: is it all in the genes? JEMDSA 2021
- 34. Fazekas-Lavu M, Tonks KTT, Samaras K. Benchmarks of Diabetes Care in Men Living With Treated HIV-Infection: A Tertiary Center Experience. Frontiers in Endocrinology.2018; https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00634
- 35. Kebbi IM, Cook CB, Ziemer DC. Association of Younger Age With Poor Glycemic Control and Obesity in Urban African Americans With Type 2 Diabetes. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163(1):69-75. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.1.69
- 36. Quah JHM, Liu YP, Luo N et al. Younger adult type 2 diabetic patients have poorer glycaemic control: a cross-sectional study in a primary care setting in Singapore. BMC Endocr Disord 13, 18 (2013). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6823-13-18</u>
- 37. Al-Lawati JA, Barakat MN, Al-Maskari M, Elsayed MK, Al-Lawati AM, Mohammed AJ. HbA1c Levels among Primary Healthcare Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Oman. Oman Med J. 2012;27(6):465-470. doi:10.5001/omj.2012.111
- Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N et al. Diabetes in older adults. Diabetes Care 2012 Dec; 35(12): 2650-2664. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc12-1801
- Kalra S., Kalra B., Agrawal N. et al. Understanding diabetes in patients with HIV/AIDS. Diabetol Metab Syndr 3, 2 (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1758-5996-3-2</u>
- Monroe AK, Glesby MJ, Brown TT. Diagnosing and Managing Diabetes in HIV-Infected Patients: Current Concepts, *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, Volume 60, Issue 3, 1 February 2015, Pages 453–462, https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciu779

Received: 22-04-2021 Accepted: 17-06-2021

CHAPTER 3: AGE AND DIABETES CONTROL IN AN HIV-ENDEMIC COUNTRY: IS THERE AN ASSOCIATION? (RESEARCH ARTICLE)

This chapter focuses on original research on associations between Age and Diabetes Mellitus at the Diabetes Clinic at Edendale Hospital.

In this article we determined that younger PLWD have poorer glycaemic control and are likely to develop diabetes-related complications later in life. This study highlights that more emphasis needs to be placed on diabetes education and management in the younger age categories of both PLWD and PLWDH.

(Some formatting changes and minor additions have been inserted from the original article published in JEMDSA)

Age and Diabetes Control in an HIV-endemic country: Is there an association?

RR Chetty, S Pillay

[Article accepted by JEMDSA and published online on 2 December 2021] https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/16089677.2021.2002586

ABSTRACT

Background: The prevalence of diabetes mellitus (DM) in South Africa (SA) is 12.80% and is rising while that of HIV infection remains the highest globally (13%). Literature varies on the associations between glycaemic control and age in patients living with DM (PLWD). Through effective anti-retroviral treatment (ART), HIV-infected patients can now live longer and develop co-morbidities as experienced by HIV-uninfected patients. Identification of challenges faced in diabetes control within the various age groups would help in developing strategies to provide improved care to patients.

Objectives: This study aimed to determine an association between age and diabetes control in an HIV endemic area.

Methods: Data from standardised clinic sheets were used from the DM clinic at Edendale Hospital, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa, from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Results: This study had 957 PLWD with 146 PLWD being HIV-infected (PLWDH). Older age was associated with improved mean glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels after adjusting for glomerular filtration rate (GFR) [r=-0.141, p<0.001]. (Before adjustment: r=-0.108; p=0.001). HIV-infected patients had lower mean HbA1c levels than their HIV-uninfected counterparts while age was positively associated with BMI in patients (r=0.246, p<0.001). PLWDH with a mean HbA1c>7% were significantly younger than those with HbA1c≤7% (47.38 years vs. 52.77 years, p=0.013). GFR declined with age: PLWD with GFR<60ml/min were significantly older than those with GFR≥60ml/min (62.72 years vs. 48.30 years, p<0.001), this remaining significant after factoring in for HIV-infection and hypertension.

Conclusion: Younger PLWD have poorer glycaemic control and are likely to develop diabetes-related complications later in life. Notably, younger PLWDH also had poorer glycaemic control which places them at increased cardio-metabolic risk from sequelae of both the HIV-infection and DM. This study highlights that more emphasis needs to be placed on diabetes education and management in the younger age categories of both PLWD and PLWDH.

Keywords: Diabetes Mellitus, glycaemic control, age, HbA1c, HIV

Age and Diabetes Control in an HIV-endemic country:

Is there an association?

Introduction

Globally, seventy-nine percent (79%) of adult patients living with diabetes mellitus (PLWD) are from low-and-middle-income countries (LMIC), with approximately 1 in 5 of these PLWD being older than 65 years¹. In 2019, there were approximately 463 million PLWD and 4,2 million deaths that were related to diabetes mellitus (DM)¹. These numbers are expected to rise to 700 million by 2045¹. In South Africa (SA), a country classified as a LMIC, the prevalence of DM is 12.80%². SA also has the highest prevalence of HIV infection globally (13%)³. Results from both high income contries (HIC) and LMIC countries suggest that younger age is associated with poorer glycaemic control^{4,5}. This finding was contrasted by Roerink et al. who determined that older PLWD had poorer glycaemic control in a study conducted in Netherlands⁶ while Zuniga et al. found that there were no statistically significant differences in HbA1c values between older and younger adults⁷. Additionally, a South African study showed that PLWD who were HIV-infected (PLWDH) were younger and had a lower mean HbA1c level⁸. This 2018 study by Khoza et al. conducted at the Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital DM Clinic, Soweto, SA, described 'The effect of HIV infection on glycaemia and renal function in type 2 diabetic patients'8. In another South African study, Werfalli et al. determined that older PLWD have a poorer quality of life and greater disability⁹. This is likely attributed to older PLWD being at increased risk for both acute and chronic microvascular and cardiovascular complications related to the disease¹⁰.

With the effective rollout of anti-retro viral treatment (ART), HIV-infected patients can be expected to have a normal lifespan¹¹. Kalra et al. highlighted the association between age and an HIV-infection in PLWD and mentioned that DM can develop as a result of the normal course of aging, metabolic factors related to the HIV-infection or due to ART¹². As these patients can now live to an older age with co-morbidities, strategies need to be implemented to provide effective care to patients as they age.

Chetty et al. conducted a scoping review in 2021 describing the relationship between 'age' and 'glycaemic control' in PLWD in the context of HIV-infection. Results of this scoping review demonstrated that data varied significantly on the associations between glycaemic control and age in PLWD¹³. They recommended that additional studies be conducted in LMIC countries where there is a high prevalence of co-existent HIV and DM¹³.

Methods

A retrospective, analytical cohort study was performed using data collected from patients who attend a specialised diabetes clinic at Edendale Hospital (EDH), Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal. Clinicians used a standardised, comprehensive clinic sheet for all patients consulted in this clinic which has been approved by the University of KwaZulu-Natal Biomedical Research and Ethics Committee (BREC) – BCA 194/15 while the BREC approval number for this current study is 2645/2021. The data for this study included patients of all ages who attended the diabetes clinic at EDH between 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Patient demographics, age, mean HbA1c, random blood glucose, HIV status, type of DM were recorded in addition to other variables from the datasheet. Missing or incomplete or incorrectly completed data were not considered.

Age was divided into the following groups: 13-17 years; 18-30 years; 31-45 years; 46-60 years; 61-75 years and \geq 76 years old.

Good glycaemic control was defined as a glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) value \leq 7.00% while poor glycaemic control was defined as HbA1c>7.00%¹⁴. The Bio-Rad D-10 machine (Bio-Rad, USA) was used for analysing the HbA1c values at the laboratory. Both the laboratory and the machines are NGSP (National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program) accredited to maintain standardisation of HbA1c results while the random glucose measurement (mmol/L) was determined using an Accu-Chek® glucometer (Roche, Switzerland). All variables utilised in the study were determined using National Health Laboratory Services (NHLS) methodology and calibration by technicians in their lab.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted with numerical data using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) whilst categorical data relationships were determined using either Chi-square or Fisher's Exact tests. A p-value<0.05 was used as indicator of significance. Data was analysed by Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) version 25 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The original data was screened for completeness, with outliers being eliminated. Numerical data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov Smirnov Test. Most of the variables were not normally distributed, hence non-parametric analysis was used. Descriptive measures included the use of central measures (mean, median), standard deviations and inter-quartile ranges. The relationships between numerical data was determined using

correlations, and those between categorical variables was done using chi square tests. Categorical data counts were represented using percentages. Binary logistic regression was used to determine the odds ratios for specified variables.

RESULTS

(A) Epidemiology

Data of 957 PLWD were used for this study – there were 822 (86.20%) Type 2 DM (T2DM) patients while 132 (13.80%) patients had Type 1 DM (T1DM) [3 unknown]. Approximately one-sixth of the cohort had an HIV infection (146, 15.30%). Of this HIV-infected cohort with DM, 84 (57.50%) were on a fixed-dose combination (FDC) of ART, while the other patients were either not yet initiated or were on alternative ART regimens. The majority of patients were between 46-60 years in both the PLWD and the PLWDH cohorts. [See Table 1]

In the study the mean age of T1DM and T2DM was 29.33 years vs. 57.31 years, respectively. In PLWT1DM, there were 65 female patients while 67 patients were male. In PLWT2DM, females comprised of 596 patients while there were 226 male patients. In PLWT1DM there were 17 HIV-infected patients in contrast to 129 HIV-infected patients in PLWT2DM. With regards to hypertension, there were 30 PLWT1DM while there were 713 PLWT2DM.

(B) Age and HbA1c

The mean HbA1c had a weak negative correlation with age (R=-0.108; p=0.001) [figure 1]. There was a statistically significant difference noted between the mean HbA1c value in the 13-17 year category compared to the \geq 76 year category (10.36% vs. 9.12%, respectively, p=0.04). All patients in the youngest and oldest age categories were HIV-uninfected. In addition to this, a statistically significant difference in HbA1c was observed between the 46-60 year and the 61–75-year age categories (9.73% vs. 9.16%, respectively, p=0.002). After adjusting for GFR, there was a stronger inverse correlation noted between age and HbA1c (r=-0.141, p<0.001) while HIV-infected patients had lower mean HbA1c levels than their HIV-uninfected counterparts. This association was highlighted in the 46–60-year age category (9.08% vs. 9.90%, respectively, p=0.004). There were significant differences noted in the mean HbA1c values between the age groups when considering all the patients together (p=0.024), within the HIV-uninfected group only (p=0.026), and within the HIV-Infected group only (p=0.039). [See Table 1]. Cross tabulation of BMI with HbA1c and HIV revealed non-significant results (p>0.05).
	All patients		HIV-Uninfected		HIV-Infected		
Age categories (years)	Count	Mean HbA1c (%)(±SD)	Count	Mean HbA1c (%) (±SD)	Count	Mean HbA1c (%) (±SD)	P values (HIV- uninfected vs. infected)
13 - 17	15	10.36 (1.96)	15	10.36 (1.96)	0	-	-
18 - 30	81	10.02 (2.24)	75	9.97 (2.27)	6	10.60 (1.93)	0.511
31 - 45	167	9.46 (2.19)	120	9.49 (2.17)	47	9.38 (2.28)	0.772
46 - 60	369	9.73 (2.22)	291	9.90 (2.18)	78	9.08 (2.25)	0.004
61 - 75	273	9.16 (2.30)	258	9.24 (2.30)	15	7.97 (1.87)	0.037
≥76	52	9.12 (2.04)	52	9.12 (2.04)	0	-	-
P values (across various age categories in column)		0.024		0.026		0.039	

Table 1: Age and HbA1c levels of patients in the context of an HIV-infection



(C) Type of Diabetes

There were significantly more patients with T2DM vs. T1DM (822 vs. 132: respectively, p<0.001). Patients living with type 2 diabetes mellitus (PLWT2DM) were significantly older than PLWT1DM (p<0.001).

In PLWT1DM, younger patients had poorer glycaemic control (HbA1c>7.00%); however,.00 this was not statistically significant (28.85 years vs. 34.54 years, respectively, p=0.07). The mean age was also non-significant in PLWT2DM between those with good vs. poor glycaemic control (57.50 years vs. 57.41 years, respectively, p=0.942). The poorer glycaemic control in PLWT1DM compared to PLWT2DM across the age categories is illustrated in Figure 2.



(D) HIV Infection

A comparison between mean HbA1c>7.00% vs. HbA1c \leq 7.00% cohorts in PLWDH revealed that higher mean HbA1c values were associated with younger patients (47.38 years vs. 52.77 years, respectively, p=0.013). In those without an HIV-infection, there was no statistically significant difference between age and glycaemic control. PLWDH were younger than PLWD without an HIV infection in the cohort with HbA1c>7.00% (47.38 years vs. 54.18 years, respectively, p<0.001). Those with lower Cluster of Differentiation (CD4) counts were typically younger patients; however, this was not significant (p=0.075). The poorer glycaemic control in older HIV-uninfected PLWD is highlighted in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Association between Age, Mean HbA1c and HIV-infection

(E) Duration of DM

Overall, PLWD with good glycaemic control had a shorter duration of DM compared to those with suboptimal control (7.24 years vs. 10.68 years, respectively, p<0.001). This significant finding was also observed in the HIV-uninfected group (7.07 years vs. 11.30 years, respectively, p<0.001). However, this did not occur in the HIV-infected group (7.92 years vs. 7.00 years, respectively, p=0.513). In addition to this, those with poor glycaemic control had a significantly longer duration of DM if they were HIV-uninfected (11.30 years vs. 7.00 years, respectively, p<0.001) [See Table 2].

	All patients		HIV-Uninfected		HIV-Infected		
Mean HbA1c (%)	Count	Mean duration of DM (±SD) in years	Count	Mean duration of DM (±SD) in years	Count	Mean duration of DM (±SD) in years	P values (HIV- uninfected vs. infected)
≤7.00	133	7.24 (7.68)	107	7.07 (7.89)	26	7.92 (6.84)	0.615
>7.00	761	10.68 (8.93)	655	11.30 (9.16)	106	7.00 (6.30)	<0.001
P values		<0.001		<0.001		0.513	

Table 2: Duration of DM and mean HbA1c in the context of HIV-infection

(F) Blood pressure

PLWD with elevated blood pressure [systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140mmHg] were significantly older than those with SBP<140mmHg (58.27 years vs. 50.25 years, respectively, p<0.001). This finding was present in both the HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected patients (p<0.001). HIV-uninfected patients with SBP \geq 140mmHg were significantly older than HIV-infected patients (59.08 years vs. 52.33 years, respectively, p=0.001).

Patients with elevated diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 90mmHg were significantly younger than those with DBP<90mmHg (50.36 years vs. 54.26 years, respectively, p=0.002). There was no significance noted in patients with DBP \geq 90mmHg between the HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected cohorts (p=0.457). Older patients had a significant positive correlation with mean SBP (r=0.298, p<0.001) while this association was not present with DBP (p>0.05) [See Table 3 and Figure 3]. Patients with hypertension were significantly older than those without (p<0.001). Furthermore, those patients with GFR<60ml/min, were significantly older than those with GFR \geq 60ml/min in both the hypertensive and non-hypertensive groups (p<0.001 vs. p=0.015, respectively) [See Table 4].

	All patients		HIV-Uninfected		HIV-Infected		
SBP (mmHg)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	P values (HIV- uninfected vs. infected)
< 140	567	50.25 (16.54)	467	51.08 (17.62)	100	46.35 (9.12)	0.009
≥ 140	382	58.27 (12.60)	336	59.08 (12.72)	46	52.33 (9.97)	0.001
p values		<0.001		<0.001		<0.001	
DBP (mmHg)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	p value
< 90	758	54.26 (16.10)	648	55.32 (16.71)	110	48.01 (9.81)	< 0.001
≥90	191	50.36 (12.89)	155	50.70 (13.52)	36	48.92 (9.74)	0.457
p values		0.002		<0.001		0.629	

Table 3: Blood pressure and age in the context of an HIV infection



	Non-hyper	tensive patients	Hypertensiv	ve Patients	
GFR (ml/min)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	P values
<60	10	45.10 (15.96)	271	64.83 (9.98)	< 0.001
≥60	133	34.83 (12.41)	288	55.99 (11.32)	< 0.001
P values		0.015		<0.001	

Table 4: Associations between age and GFR in hypertensive vs. non-hypertensive patients

(G) Dyslipidaemia

Elevated triglycerides levels \geq 1.7 mmol/L were associated with older age (55.72 years vs. 51.91 years, respectively, p<0.001). Decreased high density lipoproteins (HDL-cholesterol) levels in males were also significantly associated with older age (52.64 years vs. 47.78 years, respectively, p=0.032) [See Table 5].

	All PLWD	
Total Cholesterol	Count	Mean age (±SD)
(mmol/L)		
< 4.5	444	53.16 (16.50)
≥4.5	436	53.97 (14.51)
P value		0.44
LDL (mmol/L)	Count	Mean age (±SD)
<1.8	154	54.69 (15.64)
\geq 1.8	420	53.64 (15.54)
P value		0.474
HDL (in females)	Count	Mean age (±SD)
(mmol/L)		
<1.2	239	55.37 (15.36)
≥1.2	269	55.67 (14.26)
P value		0.82
HDL (in males)	Count	Mean age (±SD)
(mmol/L)		
<1.0	76	52.64 (16.04)
\geq 1.0	155	47.78 (16.07)
P values		0.032
Triglycerides	Count	Mean age (±SD)
(mmol/L)		
<1.7	497	51.91 (16.74)
≥ 1.7	378	55.72 (13.52)
P values		<0.001

Table 5: Associations between age and lipids

(H) Gender

There were no statistically significant differences documented between mean HbA1C and gender in the different age categories.

(I) Family History of DM (FHD)

Patients with a positive FHD and poor glycaemic control were significantly younger than those with good glycaemic control (51.57 years vs. 55.58 years, respectively, p=0.045). Furthermore, PLWD with HbA1c \leq 7.00% were usually younger if a positive FHD was present (51.57 years vs. 55.14 years, respectively, p=0.002) [Table 6].

	Negative FHI)	Positive FH	D	
HbA1c (%)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	P value
≤7.00	69	54.96 (15.10)	64	55.58 (14.07)	0.807
>7.00	354	55.14 (16.50)	407	51.57 (14.95)	0.002
P values		0.933		0.045	

Table 6: Associations between FHD, age and HbA1c

(J) Renal involvement

Patients with elevated creatinine \geq 104umol/l were significantly older than those with levels <104umol/l (62.01 years vs. 49.91 years, respectively, p<0.001). This association occurred in both PLWDH as well as in the HIV-uninfected patients (p<0.001) [See Table 7]. Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) declined with age. Those with a GFR<60ml/min were significantly older than those with GFR \geq 60ml/min (62.59 years vs. 48.30 years, respectively p<0.001) [Table 8]. When factoring in for co-morbidities, PLWD with co-morbid hypertension and an HIV-infection had a significantly lower age than PLWD without hypertension or an HIV-infection (45.10 years vs. 54.02 years, respectively, p=0.013).

	All patients		HIV-Uninfected		HIV-Infected		
Creatinine (umol/l)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	P values (HIV- uninfected vs. infected)
< 104	625	49.91 (15.53)	531	50.64 (16.25)	94	45.76 (9.63)	0.005
≥104	273	62.01 (11.72)	227	63.86 (11.40)	46	52.85 (8.60)	<0.001
P values		< 0.001		<0.001		< 0.001	

Table 7: Association between creatinine and age in the context of an HIV-infection

Table 8: Association between GFR and age

	All patients	
GFR (ml/min)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)
<60	329	62.59 (11.14)
\geq 60	500	48.30 (14.42)
p values		< 0.001
Breakdown of GFR		
<15	20	65.75 (9.61)
15-29	78	64.22 (11.90)
30-59	231	61.77 (10.93)

(K) Body Mass Index (BMI)

Patients with a BMI \geq 30kg/m² were typically older than those who had a BMI<30kg/m² (55.92 years vs. 48.12 years, respectively, p<0.001). This association of increased BMI and older age was also seen in the HIV-uninfected patients (57.17 years vs. 48.08 years, respectively, p<0.001) but did not occur in HIV-infected patients (p=0.775) [See Table 9]. There was a significant positive correlation noted between age and BMI in PLWD (r=0.246, p<0.001) [See Figure 4].

	All patients		HIV-Uninfected		HIV-Infected		
BMI (kg/m ²)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	Count	Mean age in years (±SD)	P values (HIV- uninfected vs. infected)
<30	343	48.12 (17.21)	280	48.08 (18.39)	63	48.29 (10.63)	0.930
≥30	532	55.92 (13.57)	461	57.17 (13.80)	71	47.82 (8.35)	<0.001
P values		< 0.001		< 0.001		0.775	

Table 9: Association between obesity and age in the context of an HIV-infection



DISCUSSION

Globally, results of studies have varied with regard to the relationship between age and glycaemic control. Results from both HIC and LMIC countries suggest that younger age is associated with poorer glycaemic control^{4,5}. This finding was contrasted by Roerink et al. (Netherlands study) who determined that older PLWDH had poorer glycaemic control⁶ while Zuninga et al. found that there were no statistically significant differences in HbA1c between older and younger adults¹⁵. In contrast to these, an Iraqi study found that younger patients were associated with poorer glycaemic control¹⁶. Our study yielded results which were similar to this Iraqi study. A South African study conducted by Khoza et al. showed that PLWDH were younger and had a lower mean HbA1c level⁸. Renal impairment decreases the clearance of insulin, thereby prolonging the half-life of the circulating insulin, resulting in decreased insulin requirements in PLWD¹⁷. After adjusting for GFR, older patients still had improved glycaemic control, becoming more significant after the adjustment. We postulate that older patients often having other co-morbidities might be more adherent to therapy and to clinic dates. Results of our study illustrate that we need to target improved glycaemic control in younger PLWD in order to prevent long-term complications.

The reason for younger patients with poorer glycaemic control is multi-factorial. Teenagers and younger adult patients often have T1DM where there is an absolute insulin deficiency¹⁸. Lack of adherence to insulin in PLWT1DM is frequent with estimates of adherence occurring in 23-77% of patients – with higher values predicted in LMIC¹⁹. Riaz et al. listed factors associated with non-adherence including: the educational level of the patients' parents, frequency of visiting DM clinics, knowledge regarding DM, lack of family support and the fear of hypoglycaemia²⁰. Fu et al. suggested that non-adherence often resulted from a fear of needles or injections in patients²¹ while Patton et al. described how PLWT1DM have issues relating to their diets which is a cause of poor glycaemic control²². It is thus essential to have good support with managing DM especially in the early stages of the disease as failure to adequately manage this condition can lead to poorer glycaemic control and resultant complications.

In older patients, there is improved glycaemic control compared to younger patients; however, glycaemic control is still not always optimal. In our study the older working group (46-60 year olds) had poorer glycaemia than the retirement group (61-75 year olds). We postulate that this is due to having poor eating patterns and consumption of unhealthy foods in the work environment. Work has been identified as a factor which leads to non-adherence due to a busy schedule²³. Other factors which relate to poorer adherence include patient-related factors (e.g. forgetfulness or intentionally not taking medication) or drug-related (cost of medication or side effects)²³. A South African study determined the cost of eating healthier foods was between 30-110% more expensive (on average 69% or more) than eating a non-healthy diet²⁴. This would favour the purchase of non-healthy food which has adverse

effects on glycaemic control and health in general. This highlights the social challenges faced in managing DM (and other medical conditions) in all ages especially in a LMIC.

Our study demonstrated that there was an increased prevalence of renal complications (defined by significantly increased creatinine and lower GFR levels) in older patients. In a LMIC country (such as SA), limited resources result in fewer patients having access to these scarce life-saving treatment modalities. In 2017, the incidence of initiation of renal replacement therapy (RRT) in SA was 25 per million population (pmp) which was significantly lower than countries with greater resources such as the United States of America (370 pmp) or the United Kingdom (121 pmp)²⁵. Furthermore, Maphumulo et al. described how the long waiting times for medical intervention in SA may lead to patients developing complications or succumbing to the disease process as a result of not receiving timeous intervention²⁶. These findings emphasise the need for early implementation of effective management strategies in the younger PLWD to prevent or retard disease progression in order to decrease the burden on limited resources and treatment modalities.

It is well-established that there is an association between hypertension with cardio-vascular disease (CVD), commonly resulting in increased mortality²⁷. PLWD have a 200-400% risk of dying from CVD^{28} , while some estimate that it can be as high as 10 times the risk of the general population²⁹. In patients with hypertension and DM, the CVD risk increases by a further 75%³⁰. In our study, systolic hypertension was positively associated with age. This is similar to what has been shown in other studies globally. An American study conducted by Ostchega et al. highlighted the increased prevalence of hypertension with age³¹. In contrast to this, our study found that the mean age of patients with increased DBP ≥90mmHg was younger than those with a DBP <90mmHg. According to Li et al., DBP is an important risk factor for coronary risk in younger patients³². It has also been shown to be a risk factor for formation of an abdominal aortic aneurysm³³. Clinicians should be aware of this risk factor and pay special attention to diastolic blood pressures just as much in the younger PLWD as they do for older patients. In SA, Steyn et al. highlighted that the care of patients with DM and hypertension is suboptimal³⁴. Strained healthcare systems are a major challenge, especially in Africa, with only 2% of patients having good control of hypertension³⁵. It is therefore important to implement effective early interventions to manage non-communicable disease such as DM and HPT, especially when they coexist.

Our study also demonstrated that elevated triglycerides and lower HDL values (in males) were present in older patients in the overall patient population. This is commonly found in T2DM and is associated with insulin resistance, obesity and metabolic syndrome phenotype³⁶. It is worrying as this increases the risk of developing cardiovascular disease and increases the risk of all-cause mortality³⁷. Feingold et al. found that approximately 60-70% of patients in the general population with obesity have dyslipidaemia³⁸. Bekele et al. assessed this association of obesity and dyslipidaemia in PLWD and determined a similar finding³⁹. In our study we found that older age is associated with increasing BMI. We postulate that the dyslipidaemia in older patients could be attributed to the increasing BMI values rather than due to glycaemic control.

As expected, we found that poorly controlled HbA1c was associated with a longer duration of DM. Mamo et al. also found that a duration of DM greater than 7 years led to poorer glycaemic control⁴⁰. This is likely due to progressive damage to insulin β-cell secretion with time and an increase in insulin resistance⁴⁰. Worsening glycaemic control with increased duration of DM plus advancing age increases the risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. In our study, younger patients had significantly higher mean HbA1c levels than their older counterparts. Ramanathan et al. highlighted that a long duration of DM with poor glycaemic control increases the microvascular complications of DM⁴¹. Petitti et al. recommended that poorly controlled glycaemia in younger patients warrants an urgent need for effective strategies to improve the metabolic status of patients⁴². This was confirmed by Toh et al. who found that younger patients had poorer glycaemic control⁴³. Our study findings suggest that more emphasis needs to be placed on intervention strategies targeting this group of PLWD this in order to decrease long term diabetes-related complications resulting from poor glycaemic control.

The combination of HIV infection and DM remains a major concern for LMIC. We showed that those with an HIV-infection were younger than their HIV-uninfected counterpart, implying longer future disease duration. Our study found that the younger PLWDH had poorer glycaemic control. This coupled with increased disease duration secondary to young age and availability of ART increases the risk of development of diabetes related complications.

Overall, HbA1c was lower in HIV-infected patients when compared to PLWD without an HIVinfection. Our results contrasted that of a study conducted in Netherlands which found that PLWDH had higher glucose levels and were older⁶. This is a significant finding in our study and we postulate that this improved glycaemic control in HIV-infected patients could be attributed to either the quality of a specialised, diabetes clinic which offers co-monitoring of the HIV infection and DM or could be as a result of HIV-infected patients being more compliant to their medication resulting in them taking both their ART and DM medication. Within the PLWDH cohort, renal disease occurred at a younger age. Although no histological diagnosis of HIV-associated nephropathy (HIVAN) was obtained in these patients, we suspect that this could be as a result of an HIV-infection as all patients in the cohort were PLWD. This is important as the development of renal disease at a younger age will result in more patients requiring renal replacement therapy, placing an increasing burden on the state and its limited resources.

In addition to this, those with elevated blood pressures were younger in HIV-infected patients compared to HIV-uninfected patients. A study conducted by Olaiya et al. found out that younger patients with undiagnosed and untreated hypertension had a longer duration of disease during which they developed complications from hypertension⁴⁴. This suggests that regardless of the co-morbidity, undiagnosed and untreated disease in youth can have complications later on in life. This emphasises the challenges that arise when HIV infection and non-communicable diseases interact.

LIMITATIONS

- Not all patients had all results filled in their datasheets.
- As this was a retrospective study, no causal relationships could be determined; rather, associations were defined.
- A single-centre was utilised in this study.

CONCLUSION

Younger PLWD have poorer glycaemic control and are likely to develop diabetes-related complications later in life. Notably, younger PLWDH also had poorer glycaemic control which places them at increased risk from sequelae of both HIV and DM. This study has served to highlight that more emphasis in terms of diabetes education and management needs to be placed in the younger age category of PLWD and PLWDH.

Acknowledgements

- Mr D Singh for his help in generating statistical analyses for the study.
- Sister Lungi Ndaba and her nursing team at the Edendale Hospital diabetes clinic.

Conflict of Interest

None

REFERENCES

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. About Diabetes. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-isdiabetes/facts-figures.html# (accessed 25 January 2021)
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Africa Members. https://idf.org/our-network/regionsmembers/africa/members/25-south-africa.html (accessed 19 April 2021)
- 3. Statistics South Africa 2020 Mid-year population estimates http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13453 (accessed 26 January 2021)
- Quah JHM, Liu PY, Luo N, How How C, Tay EG. Younger adult type 2 diabetic patients have poorer glycaemic control: a cross-sectional study in a primary care setting in Singapore. BMC Endocrine Disorders 2013, 13:18 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/13/18
- Unnikrishnan R, Anjana RM, Deepa M, et al. Glycemic control among individuals with selfreported diabetes in India--the ICMR-INDIAB Study. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2014;16(9):596-603. doi:10.1089/dia.2014.0018
- 6. Roerink ME, Meijering R, Bosch M, Galan BE, Crevel R. Diabetes in patients with HIV: patient characteristics, management and screening. The Netherlands Journal of Medicine. 2015;73:7
- Zuniga JA, Garcia AA, Lee J, Park J. Retention in care in aging adults with a dual diagnosis of HIV infection and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a longitudinal retrospective cross-sectional study AIDS Res Ther (2020) 17:29 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-020-00286-
- Khoza SP, Crowther NJ, Bhana S. The effect of HIV infection on glycaemia and renal function in type 2 diabetic patients. PLoS ONE 2018;13(6): e0199946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199946
- Werfalli M, Kassanjee R, Kalula S, Kowal P, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Levitt NS. Diabetes in South African older adults: prevalence and impact on quality of life and functional disability as assessed using SAGE Wave 1 data. Global Health Action. 2018;11(1):1449924. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2018.1449924.
- M. Kirkman S, Briscoe VJ, Clark N et al. Diabetes in older adults. Diabetes Care 2012 Dec; 35(12): 2650-2664.
- 11. AIDSMAP.com. Life expectancy for people living with HIV. https://www.aidsmap.com/abouthiv/life-expectancy-people-living-hiv (accessed 25 April 2021)
- 12. Kalra, S., Kalra, B., Agrawal, N. et al. Understanding diabetes in patients with HIV/AIDS. Diabetol Metab Syndr 3, 2 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1186/1758-5996-3-2
- Chetty RR, Pillay S. The relationship between age and glycaemic control in patients living with diabetes mellitus in the context of HIV infection: a scoping review, Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa, 2021;22;1 DOI: 10.1080/16089677.2021.1945767
- SEMDSA 2017 Guidelines for the Management of Type 2 diabetes mellitus SEMDSA Type 2 Diabetes Guidelines Expert Committee. JEMDSA 2017; 22(1)(Supplement 1): S1-S196

- 15. Zuniga JA, Garcia AA, Lee J, et al. Retention in care in aging adultswith a dual diagnosis of HIV infection and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a longitudinal retrospective cross-sectional study. AIDS Res Ther. 2020;17:29. doi:10.1186/s12981-020-00286-z.
- 16. Mansour AA, Alibrahim NTY Alidrisis HA et al. Prevalence and correlation of glycemic control achievement in patients with type 2 diabetes in Iraq: A retrospective analysis of a tertiary care database over a 9-year period. Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews. 2020;14;3(265-272)
- 17. Rabkin R, Ryan MP, Duckworth WC. The renal metabolism of insulin. Diabetologia. 1984 Sep;27(3):351-7. doi: 10.1007/BF00304849. PMID: 6389240.
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2009;32 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S62-S67. doi:10.2337/dc09-S062
- Almeda-Valdes P, Palacio Ríofrio J, Zamudio Coronado et al. Factors Associated with Insulin Nonadherence in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus Patients in Mexico. Int J Diabetes Metab 2019;25:139-147. doi: 10.1159/000502903
- 20. Riaz M, Basit A, Fawwad A, Yakoob Ahmedani M, Ali Rizvi Z. Factors associated with nonadherence to insulin in patients with type 1 diabetes. Pak J Med Sci. 2014;30(2):233-239.
- Fu Z, Qiu Y, Radican L. Impact of fear of insulin or fear of injection on treatment outcomes of patients with diabetes. Current Medical Research and Opinion June 2009 25(6):1413-20. DOI: 10.1185/03007990902905724
- Patton SR. Adherence to diet in youth with type 1 diabetes. J Am Diet Assoc. 2011;111(4):550-555. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.01.016
- 23. Gelaw BK, Mohammed A, Tegegne GT et al. Nonadherence and Contributing Factors among Ambulatory Patients with Antidiabetic Medications in Adama Referral Hospital. , Journal of Diabetes Research, vol. 2014 https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/617041
- 24. Human Sciences Research Council. COST OF A HEALTHY DIET Most South Africans cannot afford to eat well. http://www.hsrc.ac.za/en/review/March-2011/cost-of-healthy-diet (accessed 16 June 2021)
- 25. Jardine T, Wong E, Steenkamp R, Caskey FJ, Davids MR. Survival of South African patients on renal replacement therapy, Clinical Kidney Journal, Volume 13, Issue 5, October 2020, Pages 782–790, https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfaa012
- 26. Maphumulo WT, Bhengu BR. Challenges of quality improvement in the healthcare of South Africa post-apartheid: A critical review. Curationis. 2019;42(1):e1-e9. Published 2019 May 29. doi:10.4102/curationis.v42i1.1901
- Hanratty R, Chonchol M, Havranek EP, et al. Relationship between blood pressure and incident chronic kidney disease in hypertensive patients. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;6(11):2605-2611. doi:10.2215/CJN.02240311

- 28. Ronnback M, Isomaa B, Fagerudd J et al. Complex Relationship Between Blood Pressure and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Hypertension. 2006;47:168-173.
- Hartz JC, de Ferranti S, Gidding S. Hypertriglyceridemia in Diabetes Mellitus: Implications for Pediatric Care. J Endocr Soc. 2018;2(6):497-512. Published 2018 May 1. doi:10.1210/js.2018-00079
- 30. Govindarajan G, Sowers JR, Stump CS. Hypertension And Diabetes Mellitus. European Cardiovascular Disease 2006;2(1):1–7. DOI https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2006.1.1a
- 31. Ostchega Y, Fryar CD, Nwankwo T, Nguyen DT. Hypertension Prevalence Among Adults Aged 18 and Over: United States, 2017–2018. NCHS Data Brief; April 2020;364
- 32. Li Y, Wei FF, Wang S, Cheng YB, Wang JG. Cardiovascular risks associated with diastolic blood pressure and isolated diastolic hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2014 Nov;16(11):489. doi: 10.1007/s11906-014-0489-x. PMID: 25182161.
- 33. Rapsomaniki E, Timmis A, George J, et al. Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. Lancet. 2014;383(9932):1899-1911. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60685-1
- 34. Steyn K, Levitt NS, Patel M. Hypertension and diabetes: Poor care for patients at community health centres. South African Medical Journal;2008:96
- Salem K, Kinsara AJ. Hypertension in low and middle-income countries: Challenges, gaps and limited resources specific strategies. World J Hypertens 2017; 7(1): 19-23 [DOI: 10.5494/wjh.v7.i1.19]
- 36. Hermans MP, Valensi P. Elevated triglycerides and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level as marker of very high risk in type 2 diabetes. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2018 Apr;25(2):118-129. doi: 10.1097/MED.00000000000398. PMID: 29493554.
- 37. Kaur J. A Comprehensive Review on Metabolic Syndrome. A Comprehensive Review on Metabolic Syndrome", Cardiology Research and Practice. 2014;21 https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/943162
- Feingold KR. Obesity and Dyslipidemia. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000
- 39. Bekele S, Yohannes T, Mohammed AE. Dyslipidemia and associated factors among diabetic patients attending Durame General Hospital in Southern Nations, Nationalities, and People's Region. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2017;10:265-271 https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S135064
- 40. Mamo Y, Bekele F, Nigussie T. et al. Determinants of poor glycemic control among adult patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Jimma University Medical Center, Jimma zone, south west Ethiopia: a case control study. BMC Endocr Disord 19, 91 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-019-0421-0

- 41. Ramanathan RS. Correlation of duration, hypertension and glycemic control with microvascular complications of diabetes mellitus at a tertiary care hospital. Integr Mol Med 2017;4: DOI: 10.15761/IMM.1000272
- 42. Petitti DB, Klingensmith GJ, Bell RA, et al. Glycemic control in youth with diabetes: the SEARCH for diabetes in Youth Study. J Pediatr. 2009;155(5):668-72.e723. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.05.025
- 43. Toh M, Wu C, Leong H et al. Association of Younger Age With Poor Glycemic and Cholesterol Control in Asians With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Singapore. Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism, North America, 1, Apr. 2011.
- 44. Olaiya O, Weiser J, Zhou W, Patel P, Bradley H. Hypertension Among Persons Living With HIV in Medical Care in the United States—Medical Monitoring Project, 2013–2014, Open Forum Infectious Diseases. 2018;3;5, https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofy028

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION

This research project aimed to address two primary aims: firstly, to perform a scoping review on the relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in an HIV-endemic area and, secondly, to conduct original research on this topic.

The scoping review highlighted that "varying data exists on the associations between glycaemic control and age in PLWD in the context of HIV infection". It was also suggested in this scoping review that "further studies are recommended to determine associations in this regard, especially in LMIC where HIV and DM have a higher prevalence". This highlighted to us that relationships between the abovementioned variables are not well understood. This made the research article (Chapter 3) more relevant to the study as associations in our setting would offer greater insight to our population.

Our research article determined that "younger PLWD have poorer glycaemic control and are likely to develop diabetes-related complications later in life". We established that it was important to highlight that "more emphasis, in terms of diabetes education and management, needs to be placed in the younger age category of both PLWD and PLWDH". By doing this we hope that younger patients optimise lifestyle changes (in terms of diet and exercise) as well as medical treatment in order to improve glycaemic control to live longer (with fewer complications) thus leading to an improved quality of life.

The latest 2019 International Diabetes Federation statistics suggest that approximately 12,8% of South Africans are PLWD¹ which is more than double the number of cases since 2017². This shows a significant increase in numbers and suggests that greater efforts need to put in place to prevent and manage this deadly non-communicable disease. In June 2021, SA was ranked 49th out of 95 countries (which was the top ranked African country) according to the 'Health Care Index by Country 2021 Mid-Year' statistics³. Considering the prevalence of DM and HIV throughout the African continent and the sample utilised for this study, this suggests that the results obtained from this study will be relevant not only locally in SA but also to other countries throughout Africa (and LMIC countries worldwide).

From this study we agree that it is useful to screen all patients for DM and that in younger patients who are diagnosed with DM it is imperative to implement strategies to optimise glycaemic control to prevent

complications. In the context of a LMIC, we recommend that a holistic approach be utilised in the management of DM. Sami et al. highlighted that diet and a sedentary lifestyle are main factors for developing DM within LMIC countries⁴. Although our study is conducted in patients already diagnosed with DM, these same factors should be considered in order to prevent worsened glycaemic control. We advocate for a healthy diet to be implemented by patients of all ages despite realising that this is not always possible in a LMIC country since healthier foods are nearly twice as expensive as unhealthier foods⁵. In addition to this, we recommend that exercise should be done by PLWD in all ages in order to promote good glycaemic control. The current recommendation according to the SEMDSA 2017 guidelines is that exercise should be done for at least 30 minutes a day, 5 times a week⁶. This is a cost-effective, non-pharmacological method to manage DM and can be done at all ages. The advice recommended is also true for all HIV-infected patients living with DM.

Optimal pharmacological management is another key aspect to maintaining good glycaemic control and preventing complications. Efforts to promote this include adherence to medication as well as self-monitoring of glucose levels⁷. Again, we recommend that these measures should be done by PLWD of all ages. Through good adherence measures and self-monitoring glucose levels, patients would often be able to detect higher glycaemic control and inform their healthcare provider – who would then be able to appropriately adjust or up-refer in order to optimise pharmacological intervention. By instilling these methods from a younger age, it would drastically improve the glycaemic control and ultimately allow for PLWD to live longer with fewer complications and have a better quality of life.

REFERENCES:

- 1. IDF Africa Members, South Africa. International Diabetes Federation https://www.idf.org/ournetwork/regions-members/africa/members/25-south-africa (accessed 1 July 2021)
- 2. Diabetes rates soar in SA. Business Live. https://www.businesslive.co.za/bd/national/health/2019-11-14-diabetes-rates-soar-in-sa/ (accessed 1 July 2021)
- 3. Health Care Index by Country 2021 Mid-Year. Numbeo. https://www.numbeo.com/healthcare/rankings_by_country.jsp (accessed 13 July 2021)
- Sami W, Ansari T, Butt NS, Hamid MRA. Effect of diet on type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review. Int J Health Sci (Qassim). 2017 Apr-Jun;11(2):65-71. PMID: 28539866; PMCID: PMC5426415.
- Kern DM, Auchincloss AH, Stehr MF et al. Neighborhood Prices of Healthier and Unhealthier Foods and Associations with Diet Quality: Evidence from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Nov 16;14(11):1394. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14111394. PMID: 29144387; PMCID: PMC5708033.
- SEMDSA 2017 Guidelines for the Management of Type 2 diabetes mellitus SEMDSA Type 2 Diabetes Guidelines Expert Committee. JEMDSA 2017; 22(1)(Supplement 1): S1-S196
- Rezaei M, Valiee S, Tahan M, Ebtekar F, Ghanei Gheshlagh R. Barriers of medication adherence in patients with type-2 diabetes: a pilot qualitative study. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 2019;12:589-599 https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S197159

APPENDIX 1: THE STUDY PROTOCOL



College of Health Sciences

School of Clinical Medicine

The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries

Principal Investigator: R.R. Chetty

Student number: 214516475

Cell: 081 598 6962

Email: rushern.r.chetty@gmail.com

Supervisor: Professor S. Pillay

Email: drspillay@iafrica.com

(February 2021)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The purpose of this retrospective, observational study will be to determine if a relationship exists between age and diabetes control in patients presenting to the diabetes clinic at Edendale Hospital in KwaZulu-Natal between 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019.

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by raised blood glucose levels. In 2019, there were an estimated 463 million adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD), with this figure expecting to reach around the 700 million mark by 2045. Patients living in low-income and middle-income countries comprise approximately 79% of global adult PLWD figures, with only 20% of these PLWD being older than 65 years. This illustrates that the burden of DM in LMIC countries rests on the younger working-age population. Younger age is associated with poorer glycaemic control and also implies a longer duration of disease exposure. This often results in increased risks of complications which can be encountered in older patients and can drastically reduce life-expectancy by approximately 10-20 years.

In this study we will assess the effect of age on clinical and biochemical variables in PLWD who visit a regional hospital diabetes clinic in Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. The results of this study can help the government to design and implement strategies to improve current diabetes care in patients targeting different age groups.

1. BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Defining the Clinical Problem

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a chronic, metabolic disease characterised by raised blood glucose levels¹. In 2019, there were an estimated 463 million adult patients living with diabetes (PLWD), with this figure expected to reach around the 700 million mark by 2045².

Patients living in low-income and middle-income countries (LMIC) comprise approximately 79% of the global adult PLWD figures, with approximately 20% of these PLWD being older than 65 years². This contrasts with high-income countries which have greater than 50% of their PLWD older than 65 years³, illustrating that the burden of DM rests on the shoulders of the younger working-age population in these LMIC. These patients living with type 1 and type 2 diabetes already have reduced life expectancies of approximately 20 and 10 years respectively⁴ and DM occurring at a younger age only serves to compound the problem of decreasing the life expectancy of the population in these LMIC, countries which are already being burdened by communicable diseases like HIV infection and tuberculosis (TB). South Africa, classified as a LMIC, has the highest prevalence of HIV in the world at 13%⁵ with TB being reported as the main cause of mortality in South Africa in 2019, with an estimated 58 000 annual TB-attributable deaths⁶.

1.2 The literature review

Literature shows us that poor glycaemic control is found in the younger PWLD^{7,8}. Taking this abovementioned finding into consideration and that younger patients are generally destined to have a longer disease exposure, probably accounts for the increased risks of chronic complications found in older PLWD⁹. In South Africa (SA), it has already been demonstrated that older PLWD have a poorer quality of life and greater disability¹⁰. In addition to this, those with young-onset type 2 DM (T2DM) appear to have a more aggressive disease phenotype, leading to a poorer quality of life and unfavourable long-term outcomes⁹. This highlights the possibility of a public health catastrophe in older PLWD⁹. Efforts should therefore be made to identify areas in diabetes control which can be targeted in the various age groups in order to prevent this potential problem.

The landscape of mortality in older patients in SA is transitioning from one of communicable diseases (e.g., HIV and TB) to that of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as strokes and heart disease¹¹. This underscores the importance of DM since strokes and heart disease are recognised macrovascular

complications of DM⁸. Epidemiologically, South Africa has a younger population with only 9.1% of the population being 60 years and older¹¹. The working age in South Africa is generally between 15-64 years¹². South Africans between 15-49 years old are faced with additional infectious diseases burden that of HIV-infection with a prevalence of 18.7%⁵ and TB which is estimated at 615 per 100 000 population⁶. Burgess et al. found that there was greater than three-times higher mortality at 24-month follow up in PLWD who were HIV-infected when compared to those who were HIV-uninfected¹³. In addition to this, people with an HIV-infection are more likely to develop T2DM than HIV-uninfected patients¹⁴. Moreover, DM has been shown to increase the risk of developing TB by 300%¹⁵. Estimates from 2020 place the average South Africans' life expectancy at 62.5 years and 68.5 years for males and females, respectively¹¹. This suggests that the South African male life expectancy is lower than the retirement age of the population while females are expected to demise shortly after retirement age. The burden of this collision of non-communicable and communicable diseases in SA and its associated increase in earlier mortality, has a significant impact on the working class, thereby reducing economic activity in the country.

The prevalence of DM is generally equal between males and females in most populations¹⁶. However, it has also been suggested that males have a higher prevalence of DM than females across all age groups¹⁷. It has been traditionally accepted that an age of <40 years is usually associated with T1DM while those with an age of >40 years is associated with T2DM¹⁸. In a Trinidadian study, age was found to be the most significant risk factor for T2DM¹⁹. These findings were echoed by Suastika et al. who highlighted age as an important risk factor for both T2DM and cardiovascular disease²⁰. This underscores the importance of age on DM. In Kwa-Zulu Natal (KZN), SA, Govender et al. assessed a cohort of PLWD under 35 years of age and found that the majority of younger patients with DM had T1DM and these patients often had a lower BMI than those with T2DM²¹. No mention of HIV was mentioned in the article published by Govender et al.

Elevated triglyceride levels are commonly associated with T2DM²². Gao et al. found that triglyceride levels were related to diabetes progression in an elderly Chinese population \geq 65 years²³. This was likely due to the elevated triglyceride levels being strongly associated with inadequate glycaemic control in PLWD²⁴. Hayashi et al. conducted a study in Japan and suggested that if high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol is well controlled in elderly PLWD then complications such as ischemic heart disease might be decreased to the levels found in middle-aged cohorts of PLWD²⁵. Russo et al. found that women with T2DM had poorer control of low density lipoprotein (LDL) than men in general, and that discrepancies were more significant in older patients²⁶. Dyslipidaemia is important to diagnose and manage as it is a major risk factor for cardio-vascular events²⁷. A study conducted in Johannesburg, SA,

assessed lipid levels in Black South Africans with T2DM and found that socio-economic status played little role on dyslipidaemia; however, no mention of associations between age and dyslipidaemia were present in this study²⁸. In addition to this study, Omodanisi et al. conducted a study in Western Cape, SA, on the prevalence of dyslipidaemia in T2DM²⁹. It was found that male and female PLWD had dyslipidaemia of 94% and 84% respectively – again, no mention of associations with age were described²⁹. Limited data is available on associations between age and dyslipidaemia in a resource-limited setting, with there being no relationships offered from the above South African studies.

Hypertension (HPT) is twice as frequent in PLWD compared with those without DM³⁰. In young adults, elevated blood pressure often precedes the development of DM by 20-25 years³¹. In older patients, there is often age-related stiffening of the major arteries leading to isolated systolic HPT³². This is significant as it leads to adverse complications such as strokes, cardiac and renal disease³². Moreover, in Finland, elevated diastolic blood pressure has been found in younger PLWD, with the peak in the 40-44 year-old category³³. This type of HPT (diastolic HPT) also leads to increased total and cardio-vascular mortality³⁴. A study from India found that co-morbid DM and HPT were associated with older age, obesity and dyslipidaemia³⁵. In Mthatha, Eastern Cape, SA, a study conducted on PLWD with co-morbid HPT highlighted that male gender and age \geq 65 years were associated with uncontrolled HPT³⁶. Another South African study performed in Mpumza, KZN, assessed that the prevalence of HPT with co-morbid DM was 6%, and was higher in older female patients³⁷. This KZN study was, however, conducted on a general population rather in PLWD. Limited data is available on associations between DM and HPT in a cohort of PLWD factoring in age with and without HIV-infection.

Older age is associated with increased HbA1c levels³⁸. This is likely due to impaired glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose, and an increased prevalence of patients with T2DM³⁹. In Denmark, Ghouse et al. studied elderly individuals (\geq 65 years) with T2DM and determined that the effect of glycaemic control (measured by HbA1c) on all-cause mortality depended on the duration of diabetes⁴⁰. Baptista et al. performed a study among Brazilian adults and elderly PLWD and found that patients living with Type 1 DM (PLWT1DM) had significantly higher HbA1c levels than PLWT2DM (p<0.01)⁴¹. Locally, within, Mpumalanga, SA, Masilela et al. concluded that age was a significant determinant of poor glycaemic control among PLWD⁴². There was no mention of the patient's HIV in Masilela's study.

Thyroid disease is commonly found in most types of DM and is associated with advanced age, particularly in T2DM and underlying autoimmune disease in T1DM⁴³. The prevalence of thyroid

disease in females appears to be greater than males and in PLWD⁴⁴. Ravishankar et al. found that the prevalence of thyroid disorders in PLWD was 29% and that those with hyperthyroidism had poorer glycaemic control⁴⁵. They concurred that elderly patients had a greater prevalence of thyroid disease than those under 60 years⁴⁵. A South African study conducted by Pillay et al. determined that there was an increased prevalence of thyroid disorders (especially sub-clinical hypothyroidism) in PLWD and this was even higher in HIV-infected PLWD (PLWDH)⁴⁶. This study also suggested that young, overweight, female PLWDH were at risk of sub-clinical hypothyroidism⁴⁶. In our current study we will further assess associations in PLWD with co-morbid thyroid disease (PLWDT) in the various age categories by factoring in additional variables.

In this study we will assess the effect of age on clinical and biochemical variables in PLWD (within an HIV-endemic area) who visit a regional hospital diabetes clinic in Pietermaritzburg, KZN, SA. The results of this study can help the government to design and implement strategies to improve current diabetes care in patients targeting different age groups.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organisation. Diabetes. https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes# accessed (25 January 2021).
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. About Diabetes. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-isdiabetes/facts-figures.html# (accessed 25 January 2021)
- Asiimwe D, Mauti GO, Kiconco R. Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated with Type 2 Diabetes in Elderly Patients Aged 45-80 Years at Kanungu District. Journal of Diabetes Research. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5152146
- 4. Diabetes.co.uk. Diabetes Life Expectancy. https://www.diabetes.co.uk/diabetes-lifeexpectancy.html (accessed 26 January 2021)
- 5. Statistics South Africa 2020 Mid-year population estimates http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13453 (accessed 26 January 2021)
- 6. TBFacts.org. TB Statistics South Africa National, incidence, provincial. https://tbfacts.org/tbstatistics-south-africa/ (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Nanayakkara N, Ranasinha S, Gadowski AM et al. Age-related differences in glycaemic control, cardiovascular disease risk factors and treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study from the Australian National Diabetes Audit. British Medical Journal Open 2018;8:e020677. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020677
- Shamshirgaran, S.M., Mamaghanian, A., Aliasgarzadeh, A. et al. Age differences in diabetesrelated complications and glycaemic control. BioMed Central Endocrine Disorders. 2017;17 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-017-0175-5
- 9. Lascar N, Brown J, Pattison H, Barnett A, Bailey CJ, Bellary S. Type 2 diabetes in adolescents and young adults. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2018;6:69-80.
- Werfalli M, Kassanjee R, Kalula S, Kowal P, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Levitt NS. Diabetes in South African older adults: prevalence and impact on quality of life and functional disability as assessed using SAGE Wave 1 data. Global Health Action. 2018;11(1):1449924. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2018.1449924.
- Statssa. Protecting South Africa's elderly. http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13445 (accessed 31 January 2021)
- Statssa. Quarterly Labour Force Survey Quarter 3: 2020. http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02113rdQuarter2020.pdf (accessed 31 January 2021)
- 13. Burgess PI, Harding SP, Kayange PC et al. High mortality in subjects with both diabetes and HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS 2018 Sept;32(14):2083-2084 PMCID: PMC6125738

- 14. HIV info.NIH.gov. HIV and Diabetes. https://hivinfo.nih.gov/understanding-hiv/fact-sheets/hivanddiabetes#:~:text=People%20with%20HIV%20are%20more,and%20being%20overweight%20or%20obese. (accessed 14 February 2021)
- 15. Restrepo BI. Diabetes and tuberculosis. Microbiology Spectrum. 2016;4(6). PMID: 28084206
- 16. Gale EAM, Gillespie KM. Diabetes and gender. Diabetologia 2001;44:3-15
- 17. Cambra K, Galbete A, Forga L et al. Sex and age differences in the achievement of control targets in patients with type 2 diabetes: results from a population-based study in a South European region. BMC Family Practice. 2016;144: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-016-0533-9
- Diabetes.co.uk. Differences between type 1 and type 2 diabetes. https://www.diabetes.org.uk/diabetes-the-basics/differences-between-type-1-and-type-2diabetes (accessed 14 February 2021)
- Nayak BS, Sobrian A, Latiff K et al. The association of age, gender, ethnicity, family history, obesity and hypertension with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Trinidad. Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews. 2014;8:91-95
- Suastika K, Dwipayana P, Semadi MS, Kuswardhani RAT. Age is an Important Risk Factor for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Diseases, Glucose Tolerance. InTechOpen. 2012. DOI: 10.5772/52397
- 21. Govender P, Elmezughi K, Esterhuizen T, Paruk I, Pirie FJ, Motala AA. Characteristics of subjects with diabetes mellitus diagnosed before 35 years of age presenting to a tertiary diabetes clinic in Durban, South Africa, from 2003 to 2016. Journal of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa. 2018; 23:1, 26-31 DOI: 10.1080/16089677.2017.1417779
- 22. Tirosh A, Shai I, Bitzur R et al. Changes in Triglyceride Levels Over Time and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Young Men. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(10):2032-2037. PMCID: PMC2551650
- 23. Gao Y, Man Q, Jia S, Li Y, Li L, Zhang J. The fasting serum triglyceride levels of elderly population with different progression stages of diabetes mellitus in China. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 2017;31(12):1641-1647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.08.011.
- 24. Zheng D, Dou J, Lie G et al. Association Between Triglyceride Level and Glycemic Control Among Insulin-Treated Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2019;104:1211-1220
- 25. Hayashi T, Kawashima S, Itoh H et al. Low HDL Cholesterol Is Associated With the Risk of Stroke in Elderly Diabetic Individuals. Diabetes Care 2009 Jul; 32(7): 1221-1223.
- 26. Russo G, Pintaudi B, Giorda C et al. Age- and Gender-Related Differences in LDL-Cholesterol Management in Outpatients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. International Journal of Endocrinology. 2015 https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/957105

- 27. Pol T, Held C, Westerberg J et a. Dyslipidemia and Risk of Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Treated With Oral Anticoagulation Therapy: Insights From the ARISTOTLE (Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation) Trial. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018; 7. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.117.007444
- 28. Joffe BI, Distiller LA, Kalk WJ. Lipid Levels in Black South Africans With Type 2 Diabetes
 Dispelling misconceptions. Diabetes Care 2004 Jul; 27(7): 1839-1840.https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.27.7.1839
- 29. Omodanisi EI, Tomose Y, Okeleye BI, Ntwampe SKO, Aboua YG. Prevalence of Dyslipidaemia among Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients in the Western Cape, South Africa. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2020, 17, 8735; doi:10.3390/ijerph17238735
- Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. Diabetes, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease: Clinical Insights and Vascular Mechanisms. The Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2018 May 34(5): 575–584. PMCID: PMC5953551
- 31. Golden SH, Wang NY, Klag MJ, Meoni LA, Bancati FL. Blood Pressure in Young Adulthood and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Middle Age. Diabetes Care. 2003 April;26(4):1110-1115. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.4.1110
- 32. National Institute of Aging. High Blood Pressure. https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/high-bloodpressure (accessed 14 February 2021)
- 33. Ronnback M, Fagerudd J, Forsblom C, Pettersson-Fernholm K, Reunanen A, Groop PH. Altered Age-Related Blood Pressure Pattern in Type 1 Diabetes. Circulation. 2004;110;9 PMID: 15326070
- 34. Peters R, Wells F, Bulpitt C, Beckett N. Impact of transiently elevated diastolic pressure on cause of death: 29-year follow-up from the General Practice Hypertension Study Group. Journal of Hypertension. 2013 January ;31(1):71-76. Doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32835a4dd8.
- Tripathy JP, Thakus JS, Jeet G, Jain S. Prevalence and determinants of comorbid diabetes and hypertension: Evidence from non communicable disease risk factor STEPS survey, India. Diabetes Metabolic Syndrome 2017 Nov;11 Suppl 1:S459-S465. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2017.03.036.
- 36. Adeniyi OV, Yogeswaran P, Longo-Mbenza B, Goon DT. Uncontrolled Hypertension and Its Determinants in Patients with Concomitant Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) in Rural South Africa. Public Library of Science ONE 11(3): e0150033. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150033
- 37. Kushitor SB, Sanuade A, Baatiema L, Kushitor MK, Afrifa-Anane EK, Awuah RB. Noncommunicable disease comorbidities in KwaZulu-Natal Province, South Africa. South African Medical Journal 2021;111(2):149-158. https://doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.2021.v111i2.14744

- 38. Dubowitz N, Xue W, Long Q et al. Aging is associated with increased HbA1c levels, independently of glucose levels and insulin resistance, and also with decreased HbA1c diagnostic specificity. Diabetes Medicine. 2014 Aug;31(8):927-35. doi: 10.1111/dme.12459
- 39. Masuch A, Friedrich N, Roth J, Nauck M, Muller UA, Petersmann A. Preventing misdiagnosis of diabetes in the elderly: age-dependent HbA1c reference intervals derived from two population-based study cohorts. BMC Endocrine Disorders. 2019;19,20 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-019-0338-7
- 40. Ghouse J, Isaksen JL, Skov MW. Effect of diabetes duration on the relationship between glycaemic control and risk of death in older adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obesity and Metabolism. 2019;22(6)DOI: 10.1111/dom.13891
- 41. Baptista DR, thieme RD, Reis WCT, Pontarolo R, Correr CJ. Proportion of Brazilian diabetes patients that achieve treatment goals: implications for better quality of care. Diabetology and Metabolic Syndrome. 2015;7:113. doi: 10.1186/s13098-015-0107-3
- Masilela C, Pearce B, Ongole JJ, Adeniyi OV, Benjeddou M. Factors associated with glycemic control among South African adult residents of Mkhondo municipality living with diabetes mellitus. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020 Nov 25;99(48):e23467.doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000023467.
- Johnson JL. Diabetes Control in Thyroid Disease. Diabetes Spectrum 2006 Jul; 19(3): 148-153. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.19.3.148
- 44. Hage M, Zantout MS, Azar ST. Thyroid Disorders and Diabetes Mellitus. Journal of Thyroid Research. 2011. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/439463
- Ravishankar SN, Champakamlini, Ventakesh, Mohsin. Archives of Medicine. 2013;5;1:2 doi: 10.3823/105
- 46. Pillay S, Pillay D, Singh D, Pillay R. Human immunodeficiency virus, diabetes mellitus and thyroid abnormalities: Should we be screening? South African Journal of HIV Medicine. 2020;21(1),a1116. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhivmed.v21i1.1116

1. RESEARCH QUESTIONS:

What, if any, is the relationship between age and diabetes control in patients living with diabetes mellitus in low-to-middle income countries?

What will a 'scoping review' reveal about what is already known on this topic and what deficiencies will be identified ?

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

AIMS:

- To perform a scoping review of what is currently known on 'The relationship between age and diabetes control in patients with diabetes mellitus in low-to-middle income countries'
- To determine if there are significant associations in patients living with diabetes (PLWD) between age and clinical and biochemical variables.
- Associations* will be sought between age and:
 - Glycaemic control (HbA1c and random blood glucose)
 - HIV status
 - Demographics (Gender/Family History of Diabetes)
 - Body mass Index (BMI) (kg/m²)
 - Type of DM (Type 1 and Type 2 DM)
 - o Dyslipidaemia (Total Cholesterol, Triglyceride, HDL and LDL- Cholesterol)
 - Blood pressure (mmHg)
 - Kidney function (Glomerular Filtration Rate-GFR)
 - Thyroid function (TSH)
 - o Electrolytes (Calcium, Magnesium, Phosphate)
 - Social factors (diet adherence, exercise and home glucose monitoring)
 - Microvascular complications of DM (nephropathy, neuropathy, retinopathy)
 - Macrovascular complications of DM (Stroke, IHD, MI)
- To determine/postulate why these associations occur.

*the author will analyse and choose the best, most relevant associations to include in the study

OBJECTIVES:

In order to achieve the above aims, I will:

- Utilise relevant electronic search engines to perform a thorough scoping review of what is currently known on the association between age and DM.
- Capture clinical and biochemical variables from the Edendale Hospital diabetes datasheet for all patients consulted between 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.
- Use this data to determine any associations that may exist between these variables and age.

Variables to be included in the study will include:

- Mean HbA1c (%)
- o Mean Random Blood Glucose (mmol/l)
- HIV status (positive or negative)
- CD4 count (cells/mm³)
- Duration of HIV diagnosis (years)
- o Duration of antiretrovirals (ARVs) in years
- Names of ARVs
- Family History
 - Maternal
 - Paternal
 - Grandmother
 - Grandfather
 - Brother
 - Sister
- Gender (male/female)
- \circ BMI (kg/m²)
- Type of DM (Type 1 or Type 2)
- Duration of DM (years)
- o Mean Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)
- Mean Triglyceride (mmol/l)
- Mean HDL (mmol/l)
- Mean LDL (mmol/l)
- Mean systolic blood pressure (mmHg)
- Mean systolic diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)
- \circ GFR (ml/minute/1.73m²)
- Creatinine (mmol/L)
- Urine dipstick
- o TSH (mIU/L)
- o Calcium (mmol/L)
- Magnesium (mmol/L)
- Phosphate (mmol/L)
- Diet control (yes or no)
- o Exercise (yes or no)
- Home Glucose Monitoring (yes or no)

- Sensory-neuro examination (intact or not)
- Glaucoma (yes or no)
- Cataract (yes or no)
- Non-proliferative retinopathy (yes or no)
- Proliferative retinopathy (yes or no)
- Cerebral Vascular Event (yes or no)
- Ischemic Heart Disease (yes or no)
- Myocardial Infarction (yes or no)

3. METHODS

3.1. Study design

A retrospective, quantitative, observational, analytical cohort study will be performed.

3.2. Setting

This study will be conducted at the diabetes clinic at Edendale Hospital (EDH) which is a regional hospital based in Pietermaritzburg, Kwa-Zulu Natal (KZN).

3.3. Participant selection and sampling strategy

Inclusion criteria

• Data of all patients who attended the diabetes clinic at EDH between 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 will be used in the study.

Exclusion criteria

• Incompletely filled datasheets

The EDH diabetes clinic uses a comprehensive diabetes datasheet for all patients consulted in this clinic. This datasheet has been approved by the University of KwaZulu-Natal Biomedical Research Ethics Committee BREC - BCA 194/15. Data for my aims will be accessed from this datasheet and captured on an Excel document.

3.4. Measurements

All data will be captured from the Edendale diabetes datasheet. Any datasheets with missing information will be omitted from the analysis.

3.5. Data Collection and statistical analysis

The data will be collected and inserted into an Excel datasheet by using patients 'Folder Number' and not their name to maintain confidentiality. Continuous variables will be documented as mean values \pm standard deviations (SD). Numbers (n) and percentages (%) will be expressed for categorical variables. Numerical data will be compared using Anova, whilst categorical data relationships will be determined using either Chi-square or Fisher's Exact tests. A p-value < 0.05 will be used as indicator of significance. Data will be analysed by Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) version 25 for windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

When analysing the data, age will be analysed in the categories of 13-18 years, 19-30 years, 31-45 years, 46-60 years, 61-75 years and 76+ years.

3.6. Sample size, statistical power and variable selection

Data of all patients who meet inclusion criteria will be captured for the study time period 1 January 2019 till 31 December 2019.
4. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1. Community participation

Gatekeeper permission will be required from EDH and the Department of Health to use data from their diabetes clinic (see below for Gatekeeper permission)

4.2. Social Value

A local study would be useful in providing patients with knowledge of how age affects diabetes control in the South African context. The results of this study can help the government to design and implement strategies to improve current diabetes care in patients targeting different age groups.

4.3. Scientific validity

The datasheets will be analysed and it will be subjected to statistical analysis taking into account the aims of the study.

4.4. Fair selection of participants

All patients who meet the inclusion criteria will be included in the study.

4.5. Risk/benefit balance

Biologically, there is will be no risk or discomfort on any patients that will result from this study.

Psychologically, no fear/distress/anxiety will be experienced by patients as this is a retrospective study.

Socially, all patients will be identified by their 'Folder Number' when capturing data thereby maintaining confidentiality of patients' details.

4.6. Independent ethic review

Ethics approval will be obtained from BREC prior to conducting the study.

4.7. Informed consent

No informed consent will be required as the data required will be retrospective and taken from datasheets.

4.8 Ongoing respect for participants

Data will be processed without using the patients' name or details which can identify them to protect their confidentiality.

5. METHODOLOGICAL CHALLENGES AND STUDY LIMITATIONS

<u>Obtaining a representative sample and an adequate sample size:</u> The study will use the datasheet, approved by BREC, which is used for all patients who attended the EDH diabetes clinic. It will sample a 12-month period which should offer an adequate representation and sample size of the population.

<u>Managing missing data from datasheets</u>: Not all sheets will have all data filled in. Due to this, those which are incompletely filled will be excluded from the study.

6. FEASIBILITY

6.1. Time lines and project management

Tasks	Time period
Topic and literature review	20 January –10 February 2021
Protocol	15 February – 31 March 2021
Scoping review	1 April – 30 April 2021
BREC approval	1 May – 31 May 2021
Permission from EDH	1 June – 15 June
Data capturing	15 June – 30 June 2021
Statistical analysis	1 July – 31 July 2021
Results and Discussion	1 August – 31 August 2021

6.2. Study team, contributors and authorship.

Name	Department	Contribution	Author or
			acknowledgement
RR Chetty	2 nd year Intern,	Concept Sheet,	Author
	Addington Hospital,	Protocol,	
	KZN	BREC approval	
		Permission from EDH	
		Results and Discussion	
Professor S. Pillay	Department of Internal	Supervisor – make	Supervisor
	Medicine at King	recommendations for	
	Edward Hospital	all work	
	(KEH), Clinical		
	Lecturer NRM SCM,		
	UKZN		

6.3. Participating Centres

Diabetes Clinic, Edendale Hospital

6.4. Study Funding and Progress

ITEM DESCRIPTION	COST
Registration Fees	R4 000
Data Capturer	R4 000
Statistician	R4 000
Transport costs	R1 500
Stationary and Printing	R1 000
Publishing costs (for possible publication in	R20 000
peer-reviewed journals)	
Sundry expenses	R1 500
TOTAL COST	R36 000

7. STUDY SIGNIFICANCE

In this study we will assess the effect of age on clinical and biochemical variables in PLWD who visit a regional hospital diabetes clinic in Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. The results of this study can help the government to design and implement strategies to improve current diabetes care in patients targeting different age groups.

8. APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: EDENDALE HOSPITAL DIABETES CLINIC DATASHEET

Name						Age		Gender
DOB / Folder	Number							
History		Diet	Y N	Exercise	Y	N Home G	lucose Monit	loring 1
Current		Year of 1st Diagnosis DM		FHx of DN	Mother	Brothe	Α	Grandmo
Past Medical	History		L		Current	EA Service		Alcohol
	20M	HPT C	KD OAD	CVA	IHD N	CABG	OTHE	R
RVDYN	Year	OLV	Year Of ARV I	nitiation	Na	mes of ARV		-
Any Changes	of Meds	Y N	Name and Of	id Dosage		Employed	Unemploye	nd Per
	_							
	_				1			
Examination		BP: Sitting		Р	G	LUC	Wt	
	-	Dipstix					BMI	
CVS			Carotid Bruit Y/	N			Waist c	iro
RESP			Fundi R L					
nouvy			Glaucoma	YLINL		-		_
			Cataract Y	INL	of Ind 1			
			Non Prolif Retir	hopathy	YIN			_
200		lelectico sites	Proif D.R LY					
Feet		Lipodystrophy		Lipoat		Cellu	Ris	
Ulcer T.ped	5a				R			L
Thyroid		Sensory Neu	ro	Y N				
ENT		Pulses DP +	PR	YI IN				
Date of Bloods	GFR		TRIG		TSH		Jrine PCR	
	Creat		TOTAL CHOL		Hba 1c (NGSP)	6	CMP	
	LDL-CH	x	HDL CHOL		Vit B12			
				_			1	
Date of ECG:	0							
Date of ECG: Prescriptio				9.	1			
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2.		11.						
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1, 2, 3,		13.						
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.		14.						
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7				10.				_
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.				16.		2420		
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 91 AN: 4.		Broots [] D		16.		NEYT ADD		
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. PLAN: Medi		Bloods E	CG Eye Cir	nic SOPD	OTHER	NEXT APP	E.	
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 5. 6. 7. 8. PLAN: Medi Dieto	a Adj	Bioods E	CG Eye Cir	nic 🗌 SOPD	OTHER	NEXT APP		
Date of ECG: Prescriptio 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. PLAN: Medi Dietk NAME:	i Adj 🗌 cian 🔲	Bicods E	CG Eye Cir	nic SOPD	OTHER	NEXT APP	DATE:	

APPENDIX 2: BIOMEDICAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE (BREC) APPROVAL LETTER

 VILVESI V	VILLE STATES OF THE STATES OF THE STATES VILLE STATES OF THE STATES OF
21 August 2021 Dr Rushern Ruvashin Chetty (214516475) School of Clinical Medicine Medical School Dear Dr Chetty, Project tilte: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedica Dear Or Chetty, Project tilte: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedica Degree: MMedica Dear Or the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please et that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, (http://research.uken.ac.safl.braries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Lowel_3_Guidelines.sfb.aubx). Based feedback from some sites, we urge PIs to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app copity date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expity date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri inducentation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2020) (if applic	21 August 2021 Dr Rusherm Ruvashin Chetty (214516475) School of Clinical Medicine Medical School Dear Dr Chetty, Protocol reference number: BREC/00002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Hidde Income Countries Degree: MMedSc EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please ene that cutstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UKDN lockdown regulations, " (http://research.uk.m.ac.zal.branke/REC/RREC_Amended_Lockdown_Lewel_3_Goldenines.Sthe.abu). Based feedback from some sites, we use Ph to some sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overlaaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted appropriate BREC form 2.3 months before expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior projectance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Requirements to that African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2M BREC ethics requirements to that/Arican National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2M BREC ethics requirements to that Mrican National Messarch Ethics Research Ethics appro- BREC is registered with the South African National Research Ethics requirements to that Mrican National Messarch Ethics Research Ethics appro- Marked Scheelers, and and the WCM BREC ethics requirements to that/African National Messarch Ethics Research Ethics appro- Marked African National Research Ethics Research Ethics appro- Marked African Na
Dr Rushern Ruvashin Chetty (214516475) School of Clinical Medicine Medical School Dear Dr Chetty, Protocol reference number: BREC/00002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedSc EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please et that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, (http://fesaerch.ukzn.ac.au.fubraines/RREC/RREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Couldenies.sfb.auho). Based feedback from some sites, we urge PIs to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is subject to ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2200) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics negurement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available they./fracents.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv.adv	Dr Rushern Ruvashin Chetty (214516475) School of Clinical Madikine Medical School Dear Dr Chetty, Protecci reference number: BREC/00002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-b-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedSc EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please ense that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, and (http://research.ukcn.ac.za/lubraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.site.site.shtere person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the appro- ceptry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before receptry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior indimentation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2017) South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC thics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukcn.ac.ac.in/Research.Ethics/Bomedical-Besearch.Ethics.applicable) BREC is registered with the South African National American Heating Procedures, all available http://research.ukcn.ac.ac.in/Research.Ethics/Bomedical-Besearch.Ethics.applicable) and with UK2N BREC thas US Office Ruman Research.Pr
Dear Dr Chetty, Protocol reference number: BREC/00002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Pegree: MiledS: DEPENDED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please of that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval. Before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, Instein (from some sites, we urge Pils to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app oppiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prime Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement South African National Research Ethics/Bomedical-Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009), BREC has US Offic South African National Kester his to Study Prederal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	Dear Dr Chetty, Protocol reference number: EREC/0002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-Burgers: WMedS: Dear Dr Chetty, Protocol reference number: EREC/0002645/2021 A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please ense that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown called a study. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted appropriate Commider and study beyond the appropriy date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior called in the Study beyond the approver on the approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the approver on priy date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior Count for acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2010) footh African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UIC2N BREC theirs requirements to this study. Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UIC2N BREC here said and available trep://research.uk.mus.cz/Research-Ethics/Research-Ethics/Research-Ethics/Research-Eth
Protocol reference number: BREC/00002645/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedSc EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please e that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, (http://research.ukcn.ac.za/Libraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Lewel_3_Guidelines.sfb.asks).) Based feedback from some sites, we urge Pis to show semiltivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukm.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research-Ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Offic furma Research Protections (OHBP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its nex	Protocol reference number: BREC/00002445/2021 Project title: The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patients Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries Degree: MMedSc EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Piesse ense that substanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, a (http://research.ukcn.ac.ac/Libraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.flb.aak). Based freedback from some sites, we urge Ph to show semitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approal of this study beyond the appro- ceptry date, an application for necertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before 1 explicit date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior inplementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2015 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements instrained the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukon.ac.za/Betearch-Ethics/Bornedical-Research-Ethics.appro- BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHB9) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 Septembe
EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please et that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, (http://research.ukon.ac.xa/Libraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.sfb.ashx). Based feedback from some sites, we urge Pls to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UKZN BREC ethics requirement contained in the UKZN BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukon.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.council (BEC-290408-009), BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	EXPEDITED APPLICATION: APPROVAL LETTER A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Piese ensit that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, rithtp://research.ukan.ec.zatu/barians/BREC/RREC_Amended_Lockdown_Lewal_S_Guidelines.sftb.ababo.). Based feedback from some sites, we urge Pts to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the approachy date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before to expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before to expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2015 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukon.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Bomedical-Research-Ethics.Bouncil (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OH8P) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely, Prof D Wassenaar
A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please or that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, (http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Libraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.sfib.ashx). Based feedback from some sites, we urge PIs to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the approxity date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri- implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UKCN BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.uk.m.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Bomedical-Research-Ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009), BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Fideral-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	A sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application. The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please ensist that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, " (http://frease.ch.ukc.n.gsafl.branes/REC/GREE_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.sffb.abx). Based feedback from some sites, we urge Pis to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is subject no recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2.3 months before to copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2.3 months before to copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2.3 months before to copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2.3 months before to copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the approval of this study beyond the appro- copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the approval of the study BREC prior inplementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (201) South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukcn.ac.za/BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukcn.ac.za/BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukcn.ac.za/BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedur
The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please or that outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, (http://research.ukzn.ac.au/Lbrarles/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.sfb.ashs). Based feedback from some sites, we urge PIs to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app oppiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukun.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.Guidel.ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval and may begin as from 21 August 2021. Please ensities outstanding site permissions are obtained and forwarded to BREC for approval before commencing research at a site. This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, in the provide the subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, in the proval is subject to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the appro- ocipity date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before to copiny date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2011) South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukm.ec.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Hesearch Ethics.app. The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely, Prof D Wassenaar
This approval is subject to national and UK2N lockdown regulations, (http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Librarles/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Level_3_Guidelines.sflb.ashx). Based feedback from some sites, we urge PIs to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where perso and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the appropriate, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC primplementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if guideline) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.app. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Offic Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	This approval is subject to national and UKZN lockdown regulations, in (http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Libraries/BREC/BREC_Amended_Lockdown_Lewel_3_Guidelines.stlb.ashz). Based feedback from some sites, we urge Pit to show sensitivity and exercise appropriate consideration at sites where person and service users appear stressed or overloaded. This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the appro- copiny date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before to expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (201 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukm.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspc. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (0HBP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Your sincerely,
This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the app expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months befor expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri- implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requiremen- contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukon.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.appz. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Offic Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678).	This approval is valid for one year from 21 August 2021. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the appro expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before expiry date. Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (201 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukon.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (0HRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely,
Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC pri- implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukm.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior implementation. Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (201 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UKON BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukm.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009), BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely,
Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirement contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx. BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Offic Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (201 South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2020) (if applicable) and with UK2N BREC ethics requirements contained in the UK2N BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available <u>http://research.ukm.ac.za/Research-Ethics/Biomedical-Research-Ethics.aspx</u> . BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely,
BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Offic Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009). BREC has US Office Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678). The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely,
The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021.	The sub-committee's decision will be noted by a full Committee at its next meeting taking place on 14 September 2021. Yours sincerely,
	Yours sincerely, Prof D Wassenaar
Yours sincerely,	Prof D Wassenaar
	Prof D Wassenaar
	Prof D Wassenaar
	Prof D Wassenaar
Prof D Wassenaar Chain Riemedical Research Ethics Committee	Chain Rismodical Research Ethics Committee

APPENDIX 3: KWA-ZULU NATAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH APPROVAL LETTER

	DIRECTORATE:
i Add	Health Research & Knowledge Rangement Unit Sdress: 330 Langelbake Str. FW Burg. 3201
1139	03189/3123/2005 Fax: 033-3943702
kentri	NUPD Def: KZ 202407 0
De (U	ar Dr R R Chetty KZN)
Ap	proval of research
1.	The research proposal titled 'The Relationship between Age and Diabetes Control in Patier
	Living with Diabetes Mellitus in Low-to-Middle Income Countries' was reviewed by the KwaZu
	Natal Department of Health (KZN-DoH).
	The proposal is hereby approved for research to be undertaken at Edendale hospital.
2.	You are requested to take note of the following:
	a. All research conducted in KwaZulu-Natal must comply with government regulations relating
	Covid-19. These include but are not limited to: regulations concerning social distancing, the wear
	 conditions in the facility are conducive to the conduct of your research. These include, but are inlimited to, an assurance that the numbers of patients attending the facility are sufficient to supp your sample size requirements, and that the space and physical infrastructure of the facility or accommodate the research team and any additional equipment required for the research. c. Please ensure that you provide your letter of ethics re-certification to this unit, when the cum
	 approval expires. d. Provide an interim progress report and final report (electronic and hard copies) when your resear is complete to HEALTH RESEARCH AND KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT, 10-102, PRIVA
	BAG X9051, PIETERMARITZBURG, 3200 and e-mail an electronic copy
	 Please note that the Department of Health shall not be held liable for any injury that occurs as result of this study.
Fa	r any additional information please contact Ms G Khumalo on 033-395 3189.
v.,	Channel .
10	dis Since by
Dr	ELutpe
Ch	airperson, Health Research Committee

APPENDIX 4: EDENDALE HOSPITAL (GATEKEEPER) APPROVAL LETTER

	DIRECTORATE:					
Donnale Hughly Lot 75: Setto Weiwang Kose, Plausislerr, 3216 Tel: 031336 4096 – Fee: 033 355 4197	NEDICAL SERVICES					
	Enquires: Miss NF Moele Tel No. 033 3954042 Date: 20 July 2021					
Dr Chetty University of KwaZulu-Natal College of Health Sciences School of Clinical Medicine						
Dear Dr Chetty						
RE: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AGE AND DIABETES CONTROL IN PATIENTS LIVING WITH DIABETES MELLITUS IN LOW-TO-MIDDLE INCOME COUNTRIES						
Your request dated 03 May 2021 is acknowledged and refers.						
I have pleasure in informing you that permission has been granted by Edendale Hospital to conduct research.						
Please note the following:						
 Please ensure that you adhere to all the policies, procedure the Department of Health with regards to this research. 	s, protocols and guidelines of					
2. The Hospital will not provide any resources for this research	I.					
You will be expected to provide feedback on your findings to Edendale Hospital.						
 You will also be expected to notify the Medical Manager's research. 	office prior start date of the					
DR N DUEDURG ACTING MANAGER - MEDICAL EDENDALE HOSPITAL 033 385 4005						